
ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

0
8

/
2

0
0

9
 ·

 E
S

TA
V

IS
 A

G





ESTAVIS AG

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009



ESTAVIS AG
June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

Structure of assets and capital TEUR TEUR

Non-current assets 22,241 38,644

Current assets 185,047 211,127

Equity 49,080 95,336

Equity ratio 24 % 38 %

Total assets/equity and liabilities 207,287 249,772

ESTAVIS AG (continued activities)
2008/2009 2007/2008

Revenues and earnings TEUR TEUR

Revenues 70,710 120,209

Total operating performance 79,148 109,230

EBIT –23,408 –4,434

Pre-tax profit –28,289 –6,256

Net profit –27,928 –3,608

ESTAVIS AG

Share

Stock exchange segment Prime Standard

ISIN DE000A0KFKB3

German Securities Code Number (WKN)  A0KFKB

Number of shares on June 30, 2009 8,099,427 

Free float 44.6 %

Share price high (July 1, 2008 – June 30, 2009*) EUR 6.07

Share price low (July 1, 2008 – June 30, 2009*) EUR 1.20

Closing price on June 30, 2009* EUR 1.45

Market capitalisation on June 30, 2009* EUR 12 million

* Closing prices in Xetra trading

Overview 
Key Financial Data

This Annual Report comprises the consolidated financial statements of ESTAVIS AG and 
the management report of the Group on the 2008/2009 financial year as well as additional 
voluntary information.

This translation of the original German version of the Annual Report has been prepared for 
the convenience of our English-speaking shareholders. 
The German version is authoritative.

The above-mentioned versions of the Annual Report can be found at www.estavis.de or can 
be optained free of charge by writing to:
ESTAVIS AG, Uhlandstraße 165, 10719 Berlin, Germany.



C ontent
Reports
 6 Letter to the Shareholders
 9 Report of the Supervisory Board
 14 Corporate Governance Report
 18 The ESTAVIS Share
 20 Special Feature:
  An apartment as an investment

Management Report
 24 Preliminary Remarks
 24 Business and Conditions
 31 Business Performance and 
  Financial Position
 36 Risk Report
 42 Forecast Report
 46 Supplementary Report
 47 Key Features of the Remuneration 
  System for Board Members

Consolidated Financial Statements
 50 Consolidated Balance Sheet
 52 Consolidated Income 
  Statement
 53 Consolidated Cash Flow 
  Statement
 54 Consolidated Statement of 
  Changes in Equity 
 56 Notes
 103 Auditors’ Certificate

Other Informations
 108 Directors and Officers
 110 Responsibility Statement
 110 Forward-looking Statements
 111 Financial Calendar
 112 Credits

 





R eports
 6 Letter to the Shareholders

 9 Report of the Supervisory Board

 14 Corporate Governance Report

 18 The ESTAVIS Share

 20 Special Feature:
  An apartment as an investment

 



6 Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,
Ladies and Gentlemen,

The past financial year was at once a challenging and crucial year for ESTAVIS AG. The 
global financial and economic crisis left deep scars on the German property sector. Above 
all the financing activities of banks, which are a key requirement for property investments, 
were greatly restricted by the credit crisis. Our business performance was also affected 
by this. 

In light of the recessive market environment, we underwent considerable operative and 
strategic adjustments and reorientations in the past financial year to safeguard the com-
pany against the crisis and to enhance its business profile. We deliberately reduced the 
degree of diversification in our business activities – in favour of sustainably strengthening 
our future earnings power. 

The shake-out process was concluded by the sale of our interest in the loss-making 
Hamburgische Immobilien Invest SUCV AG at the end of the past financial year.

By focussing on core business we have significantly enhanced our performance. Our finan-
cial resources can now be used more extensively for profitable growth. 

Key figures impaired by business performance and reorientation
Our revenues and income performance was unsatisfactory in the past financial year due to 
the difficult general conditions in the German property sector. While we recorded a sharp 
rise in the number of apartments sold as against the previous year from 857 to 934 units, 
institutional portfolio business almost ground to a complete halt. 

The Management Board of ESTAVIS AG (from left to right): Hans Wittmann, Florian Lanz, Corina Büchold and 
Eric Mozanowski.
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In the residential property sales segment we recorded a surge in revenues of around 40 %. 
We generated total revenues from continued operations of EUR 70.7 million – a drop of 41 % 
as against the previous year. By comparison, the institutional transaction market in Germany 
plummeted much more sharply by more than 90 %. 

The non-recurring, non-cash effects of the revaluation of assets in the amount of around EUR 
18 million squeezed earnings and were largely responsible for the negative EBIT of EUR 23.4 
million. These effects mainly related to Portfolio trading, which reported highly negative seg-
ment earnings. However, the residential property sales segment posted a profit of around 
EUR 2.5 million. 

In addition to a challenging business performance, our key figures were also hurt consider-
ably by the structural measures implemented in the past financial year. However, these same 
measures created the foundations for a reorientation of the company so that it will be able 
to operate profitably again in future.

Investments in German residential property highly promising
The German residential property market offers good investment opportunities for both pri-
vate and institutional investors. Demographic development trends, a low level of new con-
struction activity and the growing need for private pension provision are creating a positive 
environment for the acquisition of residential property in Germany. Living space is already 
becoming scarce in structured conurbations in particular. This trend has been confirmed 
by rising apartment prices and rents in major cities. Nevertheless, German residential 
property is low-priced by international and historical standards. Institutional investors in 
the country and abroad are therefore planning to increase their exposure in Germany. 
Pension funds and insurance companies in particular are rediscovering direct investment 
opportunities in residential property. 

Private investors especially are profiting from the strong market position of ESTAVIS in 
listed apartments. People investing in these high-quality, renovated properties can take ad-
vantage of attractive, long-term write-down options and thereby lower their tax expenses 
(further information on property investments with tax benefits can be found in the Special 
Feature from page 20). 

ESTAVIS is an important point of contact for institutional investors interested in direct 
or indirect property investments in Germany. We will gradually be extending our range in 
this area in the new financial year to offer our customers additional investment options. 
Whichever form of property investment our customers opt for – our investment philosophy 
always maintains a systematic exit orientation. This means that property investments are 
geared towards value appreciation and a successful sale from the very beginning. 

With 934 apartments sold, ESTAVIS is already one of the largest providers in Germany. 
Our comprehensive market expertise in conjunction with our powerful and effective sales 
base has made this possible and, at the same time, guarantees investment success for our 
customers.

Our long-term goal is to become the leading provider of exit solutions for property inves-
tors in Germany.



8 Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

Outlook for the 2009/2010 financial year
The market environment for property investments has improved in recent months. German 
banks have increased their mortgage business for private property investors. In light of the 
severe turbulence on the fi nancial markets, property is gaining in signifi cance as a long-
term and stable investment for private and institutional investors. We are anticipating that 
this development will continue – also being driven in part by the growing need for private 
pension provision. The Management Board is therefore anticipating attractive overall busi-
ness potential on the German property market.   

Assuming stable revenues development, we are forecasting a tangible year-on-year im-
provement in our earnings situation (from continued operations) in the 2009/2010 fi nan-
cial year. The changes already implemented in our corporate and cost structures will make 
a key contribution towards this. 

In institutional transaction business we are currently assuming that the market will recover 
only slowly and that revenues will therefore remain low in the 2009/2010 fi nancial year. 

Dear shareholders, with our strategic and operative reorientation in the past fi nancial year, 
we have laid the foundation for a successful performance of ESTAVIS AG. Nonetheless, 
we are still facing the enormous challenges presented to us by the market environment. 
As the Management Board, we will do everything possible for the good of ESTAVIS and its 
shareholders, customers and employees and seize the opportunities that arise for positive 
corporate development. 

Florian Lanz  Corina Büchold Eric Mozanowski Hans Wittmann
Chief Executive  Member of the Member of the Member of the
Offi cer (CEO)  Management Board Management Board Management Board
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dear Shareholders,
Ladies and Gentlemen,

The effects of the global financial and economic crisis have severely impaired the business 
environment of ESTAVIS AG in the past year. 

In order to limit the effects on the company’s net assets, financial position and results of 
operations, the Management Board resolved and implemented a series of measures in 
the 2008/2009 financial year. As a result of these measures, some of which required the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, the ESTAVIS Group’s corporate structures have been 
adapted and geared towards future activities with intrinsic value. 

In light of the financial crisis, the Supervisory Board also dealt intensively with measures 
to refinance the company in addition to advising and assisting the Management Board in 
its activities.
 
Monitoring the activities of the Management Board 
In the 2008/2009 financial year, the Supervisory Board of ESTAVIS AG took great care in 
performing the duties assigned to it by law and the Articles of Association. In doing so, it 
regularly advised the Management Board on the company’s management and monitored 
the activities of the Management Board on a continuous basis. 

The Supervisory Board was kept fully informed of all issues concerning the company’s de-
velopment and the course of business at all times and in a timely manner, including written 
monthly reports on the commercial, financial and technical development of the company. 
In addition, the Management Board informed the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
any significant events immediately and in a timely manner. The Supervisory Board also ad-
dressed the topic of the company’s business policy and discussed aspects of its medium-
term strategic planning with the Management Board. Where decisions by the Management 
Board required the approval of the Supervisory Board, the members of the latter examined 
the corresponding documents with due care, discussed them in a plenary session and 
passed resolutions accordingly. In addition to the intensive work within the Supervisory 
Board, the Supervisory Board members were also in regular contact with members of the 
Management Board outside meetings to receive information on current business develop-
ment and major transactions and to assist the Management Board in an advisory capacity. 
In addition, individual discussions with the Management Board were used to discuss pros-
pects and the future orientation of business activities as well as of the companies in the 
ESTAVIS Group. The Supervisory Board also addressed the potential conflicts of interest 
arising from the fact that the law firm Heuking Kühn Lüer Wojtek, of which the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board, Dr. Stöhr, is a partner, acts in an advisory capacity for ESTAVIS AG.

Meetings and committees
A total of three regular meetings of the Supervisory Board were held in the past financial 
year. All of the members of the Supervisory Board participated in every meeting, in some 
cases by telephone. The meetings focused on the economic situation and the operating 
and strategic development of the company and its segments.

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
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At its meeting on 24 September 2008, the Supervisory Board focused on the single-entity 
and consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008, the Manage-
ment Board’s proposal on the appropriation of net profit and corporate planning for the 
2008/2009 financial year. The single-entity and consolidated financial statements were 
then unanimously approved by the Supervisory Board. Another main topic addressed at 
this meeting was the composition of the Management Board. In line with this and due to 
her successful work, the Supervisory Board resolved to extend the appointment of Ms. 
Corina Büchold as a Management Board member until 31 December 2011, while extending 
her employment contract for the same period of time on improved terms. In addition, to 
supplement the existing members of the Board, Mr. Eric Mozanowski was appointed as a 
new Management Board member also until 31 December 2011. Mr. Mozanowski was the 
Managing Director of the development company B&V Bauträger- und Vertriebsgesellschaft 
für Immobilien mbH, which was acquired in October 2007. He is assuming the previously 
unfilled position of Chief Sales Officer (CSO). In addition, the Supervisory Board discussed 
the conclusion of ESTAVIS AG’s various transactions (project agreements, loan agreements 
and guarantees) and approved them. The appointment of various members to Supervisory 
Boards of companies in the ESTAVIS Group was also approved.

The Supervisory Board meeting of 20 November 2008 took place jointly with the Manage-
ment Board, which gave the Supervisory Board a report on the position of the company. 
In the meeting, the Management Board informed the Supervisory Board on the economic 
situation and development of ESTAVIS AG and illustrated in concrete terms how the 
financial crisis has affected and will affect ESTAVIS AG and the measures it has taken to 
minimise these negative effects as much as possible. The statements of the Management 
Board were discussed by the members of the Supervisory Board and then the members of 
both executive bodies discussed necessary measures for the continued successful devel-
opment of ESTAVIS AG. 

Appointing a member of the Management Board was again on the agenda of the Supervisory 
Board meeting on 22 June 2009. Mr. Florian Lanz was appointed as CEO of ESTAVIS AG 
until 30 June 2012 as the successor to Mr. Rainer Schorr, who did not renew his mandate 
on ESTAVIS AG’s Management Board ending on 30 June 2009 for personal reasons. The 
Supervisory Board also approved the disposal of shares held by ESTAVIS in Hamburgische 
Immobilien Invest SUCV AG and CWI Real Estate AG. In addition, the Supervisory Board 
adopted the amended Rules of Procedure for the Management Board of ESTAVIS AG at this 
meeting, in which amendments to management measures requiring approval were made to 
give the Management Board a freer hand in managing the company. Lastly, the Supervisory 
Board agreed on the establishment of an ESTAVIS AG branch in Stuttgart and approved a 
number of guarantees and loan agreements relating to ESTAVIS AG and other companies 
in the ESTAVIS Group.

The Supervisory Board members of ESTAVIS AG also consulted with each other outside 
meetings and passed resolutions by way of votes held by telephone, in writing, or in text 
form. All of the members of the Supervisory Board participated in each resolution.

The Supervisory Board has not yet formed any committees. Especially in light of the fact 
that there is a planned reduction of the size of the Supervisory Board to three members af-
ter the next Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory Board believes it can work efficiently 
also as a whole. Forming committees that must have at least two members and at least 
three members for a quorum is not deemed necessary for a Supervisory Board of this size.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Disposals of shares
Following discussions by the Management Board and Supervisory Board, ESTAVIS AG 
disposed of its entire shareholding in Hamburgische Immobilien Invest SUCV AG, in which 
it recently had a stake of around 80 %, to VPE VARIO Private Equity AG, Hamburg by means 
of a purchase agreement dated 22 June 2009. In this agreement ESTAVIS AG also sold 
its entire stake in CWI Real Estate AG, in which it only had a holding of about 2.3 %. The 
disposal of these holdings is a major component of the package of measures to optimise 
corporate structures and improve the earnings strength of ESTAVIS AG. The Management 
Board of the company resolved this package in close collaboration with the Supervisory 
Board. Previously, the negative earnings contributions from the interest in Hamburgische 
Immobilien Invest SUCV AG had led to a deficit of approximately EUR 3.3 million in Estavis 
AG’s consolidated financial statements. The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
ESTAVIS AG have agreed to use the liquid assets resulting from the deconsolidation for the 
future expansion of business with private investors.

Change on the Board of Management of ESTAVIS AG
Effective 30 June 2009, the existing CEO of ESTAVIS AG, Mr. Rainer Schorr, allowed his 
term in office to expire for personal reasons at the normal end of his appointment period. 
Mr. Schorr was the founder of ESTAVIS AG and also its largest shareholder. In his function 
as CEO, Mr. Schorr successfully built up and expanded ESTAVIS AG and launched it on the 
stock exchange in March 2007. The Supervisory Board would like to thank Mr. Schorr for 
his contributions to ESTAVIS AG and his constructive contributions based on trust. 

Effective 1 July 2009, the Supervisory Board appointed Mr. Florian Lanz as the new CEO 
of ESTAVIS AG to succeed Mr. Schorr. In this role, Mr. Lanz will strengthen the strategic 
orientation on business with institutional and private investors. Mr. Lanz has extensive 
experience in the real estate business thanks to his many years as Managing Director of 
various real estate companies

Economic development
In the past financial year, ESTAVIS AG felt the negative effects of the global real estate and 
financial crisis directly. This led to a collapse of ESTAVIS AG’s portfolio business, which is 
its most important pillar of business operations aside from sales of residential property. 
For this reason, a lack of demand led to a repayment of EUR 16,500,000.00 for a portfolio 
transaction entered into on 30 June 2008. The transaction was carried out at the beginning 
of the 2009/2010 financial year in agreement with the institutional investor. To contain the 
adverse effects on the company’s financial and earning situation, the Management Board 
resolved a package of measures that also includes expanding business with private inves-
tors. Regular coordination between the CEO and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
also took place on this topic in particular. In reaction to ESTAVIS AG’s economic situation, 
the members of the Management Board had resolved to make a personal contribution and 
waive part of their remuneration. The Supervisory Board had agreed to this and approved 
a corresponding change in the employment contracts of the Management Board members. 
At the same time, Management Board members Hans Wittmann and Eric Mozanowski were 
appointed until 31 December 2010.
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Corporate Governance
The Management Board and Supervisory Board of ESTAVIS AG identify with the objectives 
of the German Corporate Governance Code, which aims to promote responsible and trans-
parent company management and control with a view to generating a sustainable increase 
in enterprise value. In accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act, 
the Management Board and Supervisory Board of a listed company are required to issue a 
statement each year in which they provide information on the extent to which the recom-
mendations of the Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code 
have been complied with in the past and are currently being complied with. In August 2009, 
the bodies of company adopted the declaration of conformity based on the version of the 
German Corporate Governance Code dated 6 June 2008 and made it permanently available 
to the shareholders on the homepage of ESTAVIS AG.

Single-entity and consolidated financial statements, audit of the 
annual financial statements, dependent company report
The Annual General Meeting appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirt-
schaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin (PwC), as the company’s auditors. The Supervisory Board 
issued PwC with the corresponding audit engagement, including specifying the focuses 
of the audit. The Supervisory Board ensured that it was kept informed about the audit 
measures performed by PwC with a view to ensuring audit quality and auditor independ-
ence. The single-entity financial statements of ESTAVIS AG and the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2009, the management report of ESTAVIS AG and 
the Group management report were audited by PwC and issued with an unqualified audit 
opinion in each case.

The Supervisory Board also examined the single-entity and consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by the Management Board, as well as the management report and Group 
management report. The audit report was submitted to all of the members of the Supervi-
sory Board in good time. The Supervisory Board examined these documents and discussed 
them in detail at its meeting on 13 November 2009. The lead auditor attended this meeting 
and reported on the key results of the audit. The Supervisory Board raised questions with 
the Management Board on individual aspects.

The examination of the single-entity financial statements of ESTAVIS AG, the consolidated 
financial statements, the management report and the Group management report by the 
Supervisory Board did not give rise to any objections. Based on the final results of its own 
examination, the Supervisory Board concurred with the results of the audit. The Supervisory 
Board approved the single-entity and consolidated financial statements for the 2008/2009 
financial year and the accompanying management report and Group management report. 
The financial statements are therefore adopted in accordance with section 172 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

PricewaterhouseCoopers also audited the dependent company report prepared by the 
Management Board of the company in accordance with section 312 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act and issued the following audit opinion in its report: 

“On completion of our audit in accordance with professional standards, we confirm that 
the factual statements made in the report are correct, the company’s compensation with 
respect to the transactions listed in the report was not inappropriately high or disadvan-
tages were offset, and there are no circumstances which would justify, in relation to the 
measures specified in the report, a materially different opinion than that held by the Man-
agement Board.”

The dependent company report prepared by the Management Board and the audit report 
prepared by PricewaterhouseCoopers were made available to all of the members of the 
Supervisory Board in a timely manner. The Supervisory Board examined these documents 
and discussed the relationships with the controlling parent companies. The documents 
were discussed in detail at the Supervisory Board meeting on 13 November 2009. The lead 
auditor attended this meeting and reported on the key results of the audit. Based on the 
final results of its own examination, the Supervisory Board did not raise any objections.

In the name of the members of the Supervisory Board, I would like to thank the Manage-
ment Board and the employees of ESTAVIS AG for the work they have achieved and their 
remarkable commitment and loyalty. 

Berlin, 13 November 2009

For the Supervisory Board
Dr. Karl-Josef Stöhr
Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In accordance with section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board of ESTAVIS AG report on the company’s corporate 
governance activities each year.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of ESTAVIS AG identify with the objectives 
of the German Corporate Governance Code, which aims to promote responsible and trans-
parent company management and control with a view to generating a sustainable increase 
in enterprise value.

Corporate Governance at ESTAVIS AG is intended to increase the confidence of investors, 
business partners, employees and the wider public in the management and monitoring of 
the company. 

Declaration of conformity 2009
In accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board of a listed company are required to issue a statement each 
year in which they provide information on the extent to which the recommendations of the 
Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code have been complied 
with in the past and are currently being complied with. 

Based on the version of the German Corporate Governance Code dated 6 June 2008, the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board issued a declaration of conformity in Septem-
ber 2008. This declaration has been published in full on the company’s website www.
estavis.de.

“Joint declaration of conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code by the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board of ESTAVIS AG in accordance with section 
161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

In accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Management Board 
and Supervisory Board of ESTAVIS AG hereby issue the following declaration: 

ESTAVIS AG has complied with and continues to comply with the recommendations of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code in the current version dated 6 June 2008 with the following 
exceptions:

Section 3.8 (D&O insurance) 
The company has taken out a D&O insurance policy for the Management Board and the Super-
visory Board that does not include a deductible. In the opinion of the Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board, the agreement of a deductible would have no effect on the sense of 
responsibility and loyalty of the members of the executive bodies. 

Section 4.2.3 (Compensation)
The total compensation of the Management Board currently consists of fixed and variable com-
ponents, but no long-term incentives containing risk elements. 

No severance payment cap for Management Board members has been agreed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Section 5.1.2 (Age limit)
Due to the age structure of the Management Board, no age limit is currently specified.

Sections 5.3.1, 5.3.2 and 5.3.3 (Committees)
The Supervisory Board has not yet formed any committees, and in particular has not estab-
lished an Audit Committee or a Nomination Committee. In light of the planned reduction of the 
Supervisory Board to three members, no committees will be established in future. 

Section 7.1.2 (Discussion of interim reports by the Supervisory Board)
Quarterly reports are not currently discussed by the Supervisory Board prior to publication.”

Compensation report

Compensation paid to the Management Board
The Supervisory Board stipulates the structure and amount of the compensation paid to the 
members of the Management Board and reviews these factors on a regular basis. The total 
remuneration of the Management Board is composed of fixed and variable components and 
other compensation. 

Fixed compensation is paid in the form of a monthly salary, while the variable component is 
paid as an annual management bonus. The management bonus depends on the operating 
result (EBIT) generated by the company. Other variable compensation components, such as 
stock options or similar instruments, are currently not used. Other compensation consists of 
non-cash benefits in the form of the use of a company car and a health insurance allowance.

In the 2008/2009 financial year, the compensation paid to the Management Board totalled 
TEUR 1,263. 

The following table shows the individual components of the compensation paid to the mem-
bers of the Management Board:

ESTAVIS AG
Fixed 

compensation
Other 

compensation
Total 

compensation

TEUR TEUR TEUR

Rainer Schorr 391 36 427

Corina Büchold 287 20 307

Hans Wittmann 287 23 310

Eric Mozanowski (since 1 October 2008) 212 7 219

Total 1,176 88 1,263

ESTAVIS AG has also taken out D&O and accident insurance policies for the members of 
the Management Board.

The Group has no pension commitments to members of the Management Board.  
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Compensation paid to the Supervisory Board
The compensation paid to the Supervisory Board consists of fixed and performance-related 
compensation. In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board are reimbursed for any 
expenses incurred in exercising their function.
The members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed annual remuneration of TEUR 5 and 
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives fixed annual remuneration of TEUR 10 plus 
statutory VAT in each case, to the extent that this is required to be paid; these amounts are 
payable after the end of the financial year. 

In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board receive variable compensation based 
on the development of the company’s share price compared with the share price perform-
ance of its peer group, which is composed of Colonia Real Estate AG, Deutsche Wohnen 
AG, Franconofurt AG and Vivacon AG. Variable compensation is limited to 200% of the fixed 
compensation of the respective member plus statutory VAT, to the extent that this is required 
to be paid.

In the 2008/2009 financial year, the compensation paid to the Supervisory Board totalled 
TEUR 36. The following table contains a detailed overview of the individual compensation 
paid:

ESTAVIS AG

Fixed 
compensation

Variable 
compensation

Total 
compensation

EUR EUR EUR

Dr. Karl-Josef Stöhr 11,900 0 11,900

Michael Kremer 5,950 0 5,950

John W. Cutts 5,950 0 5,950

Denham Eke 5,950 0 5,950

Ulrich Wogart 5,950 0 5,950
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Shareholdings of the Management Board and Supervisory Board
The number of ESTAVIS shares held by the members of the Management Board as of 30 June  
2009 was as follows:

ESTAVIS AG

Number of shares

Rainer Schorr (directly/indirectly via R. Schorr Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH) 2,872,264

Corina Büchold 230,937

Hans Wittmann 233,012

Eric Mozanowski 187,500

Florian Lanz, CEO of ESTAVIS AG since 1 July 2009, held a total of 460,000 shares per 
21 July 2009.

No members of the Supervisory Board held ESTAVIS shares at the reporting date. 
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THE ESTAVIS SHARE

Stock market performance in the past fi nancial year was dominated by high levels of uncer-
tainty and volatility. Following the heightening of the fi nancial crisis in October 2008 – trig-
gered by the insolvency of Lehman Brothers in the US – all major stock market indices have 
suffered considerable losses. Shares in the fi nance and property industries were hit more 
than most by the loss of investor confi dence as it was thought that the global fi nancial sys-
tem could collapse. After the main international and national indices reached their lowest 
points in March 2009, a signifi cant recovery got under way in spring. The foundations for 
this were the initial indications of an economic recovery, the stabilisation of the fi nancial 
system and the expected positive effects of massive government stimulus packages.

Owing to the lingering poor conditions for the property sector, property shares counted 
among the overall losers on the stock market. ESTAVIS’ shares were also affected by devel-
opments on the capital markets, resulting in a signifi cant fall in our share price. On 30 June 
2009, the last trading day of the 2008/2009 fi nancial year, ESTAVIS’ shares closed at EUR 
1.45 – down from EUR 6.00 at the start of the fi nancial year.

According to the majority of recent analyst reports, however, ESTAVIS’ shares are believed 
to offer signifi cant upside potential:

• SES Research, “Buy”, target price EUR 3.30

• SRC Research, “Buy”, target price EUR 6.00

• WestLB, “Neutral”
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THE ESTAVIS SHARE

Shareholder structure
As of 30 June 2009, the issued capital (share capital) of ESTAVIS AG amounted to EUR 8,099,427 
and was composed of 8,099,427 no-par value bearer shares. 

The shareholder structure is shown in the following graph:

Investor relations activities
Transparent communications with private and institutional investors are a matter of great 
concern to us. This also means our participation in key investor conferences.

In the first half of the 2009/2010 financial year, we will be represented at the conference 
of the “Real Estate Share Initiative”, of which ESTAVIS is a member, and the German Equity 
Forum organised by Deutsche Börse (see Financial Calendar, page 103).

ESTAVIS shares at a glance

ESTAVIS AG

Share

Stock exchange segment Prime Standard

ISIN DE000A0KFKB3

German Securities Code Number (WKN)  A0KFKB

Number of shares on June 30, 2009 8,099,427 

Free float 44.6 %

Share price high (July 1, 2008 – June 30, 2009*) EUR 6.07

Share price low (July 1, 2008 – June 30, 2009*) EUR 1.20

Closing price on June 30, 2009* EUR 1.45

Market capitalisation on June 30, 2009* EUR 12 million

* Closing prices in Xetra trading

Shareholder structure on July 30, 2009

33.2 %  Free float

 29.3 % Rainer Schorr (founder)

 13.8 % Management Board

 9.8 % Asset Value Investors

 5.1 % Galloway Ltd.

 8.8 % Elliston Properties



20 Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

What are the pros?
The fi nancial crisis reminded many investors of the iron 
principle of investment legend Warren Buffett: “Never 
invest in something you don’t understand”. Complex fi -
nance products such as derivatives have brought heavy 
losses for investors and ultimately almost toppled the 
international fi nancial markets. A lot of investors have 
learnt from this experience. In future they will seek out 
stable, simply structured investment opportunities. For 
many people, an apartment is an attractive investment. 
In terms of value retention and appreciation, yield, tax 
deductibility, infl ation protection and pension provision, 
property investments are excellently suited for wealth ac-
cumulation.

Value retention and appreciation – 
residential property as an investment option
Residential property is undergoing a renaissance with 
both private and institutional investors. Previously thought 
of as a boring investment, today it is the height of fashion. 
The reason: residential property is a relatively safe haven 
in the sea of investment options. As a crisis-proof invest-
ment it is less dependent on economic cycles than, for 
example, offi ce or hotel properties – people will always 
need to live somewhere. According to a 2009 survey by 
Ernst & Young Real Estate, 80 % of German insurance 
companies asked want to buy residential property. The 
year before this fi gure had been only 55 %.

Demand rising – supply falling: 
don’t miss the boat
Whether a large investor or a small investor – everyone 
clearly understands that the differential between supply 
and demand is growing more divergent. This makes an 

investment in an apartment even more attractive. Ac-
cording to a recent report by the Eduard Pestel Institute 
for Applied Systems Research, Germany, on “Changes in 
residential demand and the reaction of residential sup-
ply” more than 400,000 apartments would have to be 
built per year until 2014 to keep up with market demand. 
However, less than 200,000 apartments were completed 
in 2008 and the trend is falling.

Demand for apartments will continue to rise in the com-
ing years, even though population fi gures in Germany will 
fall in the long term. The reason for this is the growing 
number of households. This will continue to rise tangibly 
for at least ten to fi fteen years. Based on 2005, the Fed-
eral Offi ce of Statistics is forecasting that the number of 
households in Germany will rise by 3 % by 2020. There 
are several factors driving this development. The number 
of persons per household has been falling for years and 
this trend will continue in the years to come. This is be-
cause a lifestyle shift is leading to more single-person 
households in younger and middle age groups. On the 
other hand, the number of small households is rising as 
there is a growing number of senior citizens living alone.

Rising demand combined with falling supply mean that 
residential space in some major cities is growing short. 
Rents are rising in many conurbations, which in turn is 
causing property prices to climb. At locations such as 
these, an apartment as an investment can not only main-
tain its value but increase it as well.

AN APARTMENT AS AN INVESTMENT

 

Residential market significantly more crisis-proof than the commercial property market
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Special Feature

Tax deductibility – listed buildings 
offer attractive options
The general taxation conditions for property have de-
teriorated in recent years. However, there are still at-
tractive tax savings options in connection with building, 
renovating and fi nancing property. The tax benefi ts are 
particularly good for buying listed properties or proper-
ties in redevelopment areas. Under section 7i and 7h of 
the German Income Tax Act, the cost of construction ac-
tivities, depending on their type and extent, required to 
maintain a building as a listed building or for its intended 
use can be deducted by up to 9 % in the year of construc-
tion and the following seven years – and then by up to 7 % 
per year annually for four years. This is one of Germany’s 
last remaining tax oases.

In addition to this special regulation, income from letting 
and leasing property can always be deducted by write-
downs on construction work as expenses or permanently 
by offsetting them against loan interest. Gains on prop-
erty sales are also completely tax-free after the ten-year 
speculation period.

Property : inflation protection in turbulent 
(stock market) times
While the rate of infl ation declined by 0.5 % year-on-year 
in July 2009, concerns about high infl ation rates are still 
on the table. The issue is polarising analysts. Thomas 
Straubhaar, Director of the Hamburg Institute of Inter-
national Economics, is assuming that energy prices will 
rise in the second half of 2009 and thinks it likely that 
the price of oil will double to up to 80 dollars per barrel. 
For the years after 2010 he is forecasting infl ation rates 
of between 5 % and 10 % per year. The rate of infl ation in 
Germany last reached around 5 % in the early 1990s. His 
theory is that above all the spiralling public debt in the 

US, Japan and Europe will exacerbate infl ation concerns. 
The economic programmes correspond to around 13 % 
the world’s gross domestic product. A growing number of 
governments are falling prey to the temptation to elimi-
nate their debts with the money press.

So as not to be at the mercy of infl ation, investors have 
sought refuge in tangible assets such as property, not 
least since the bankruptcy of the US investment bank 
Lehman Brothers. Apartments are excellently suited to 
offer protection against infl ation. This was confi rmed by 
a study published at the start of the year by the German 
Institute for Economic Research. And it makes no differ-
ence whether properties are owner-occupied or rented 
out: investors protect their capital against depreciation 
in both scenarios. Property owners in particular rank 
among the winners in times of high infl ation.

On the one hand, the value of their property tends to rise 
with infl ation. Meanwhile, monetary assets bear the full 
brunt of depreciation. A further advantage is the usual 
borrowing for a property investment. Infl ation “repays” a 
portion of liabilities, so to say, that lose value as infl ation 
advances.

Apartment sales by ESTAVIS
At 934 units, the ESTAVIS Group sold more apartments 
to investors in the 2008/2009 fi nancial year than ever 
before. Listed apartments sold by ESTAVIS’ subsidiary 
B&V Bauträger- und Vertriebsgesellschaft für Immobi-
lien mbH account for most of these. These tax-optimised 
products are being especially well received by investors. 
Regionally, these properties focused in particular on 
highly structured cities such a Chemnitz and Leipzig.

Residential requirements in Germany until 2025
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PRELIMINARY REMARKS

The consolidated financial statements of ESTAVIS AG (hereinafter also referred to as ESTAVIS) 
on which this report is based have been prepared in line with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The figures for the reporting period can only be compared with those for the prior-year 
period to a limited extent on account of the different period of inclusion (previous year: 
eight months) of B&V Bauträger- und Vertriebsgesellschaft für Immobilien mbH, Berlin, and 
its affiliate, Protect Vermittlungsgesellschaft für Kapitalanlagen mbH (now B&V Wohnbau 
GmbH), Stuttgart (referred to below collectively as the B&V Group) and the reclassification 
of the assets and liabilities of the Hamburgische Immobilien Invest SUCV AG Group (HAG 
Group) to assets/liabilities held for sale.

All monetary figures in this report are stated in euros (EUR).

1 BUSINESS AND CONDITIONS

1.1 BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS MODEL

The ESTAVIS Group is one of the leading listed property dealers in Germany. In geographi-
cal terms, its business activities are confined to German properties, primarily in various 
conurbations in east and northern Germany. Its activities focus mainly on trading residen-
tial property. The ESTAVIS Group’s business activities are divided into the following areas:

Property sale to private investors
These retail trading operations comprise the sale of individual properties (mainly apart-
ments) to private investors primarily for the purposes of retirement provision and as tax-
advantaged investments. Activities here focus on the modernisation and sale of listed 
properties that private investors can utilise for tax benefits in particular. Properties are 
sold throughout Germany through external sales partners.

Portfolio trading
In portfolio trading ESTAVIS operates as a market maker between property providers and 
property portfolio users. The company purchases individual properties in accordance with 
precisely defined criteria, bundles them to form structured portfolios and sells them to 
institutional investors in Germany and abroad. If necessary, the properties are renovated 
and/or modernised as part of the resale process. 

Development
ESTAVIS operates in the area of development to the extent that a property acquisition 
entails the opportunity to purchase suitable properties at favourable conditions or with a 
view to making them viable for project development, e. g. in the case of portfolio acquisi-
tions or realisations of bank security. Project development is only performed if it is certain 
that the respective project can be incorporated into a portfolio and the lease of most of the 
building or its resale is guaranteed prior to the start of construction.
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1.2 CORPORATE STRUCTURE

ESTAVIS AG is the parent company of the ESTAVIS Group. A presentation of the current 
corporate structure and a list of the individual subsidiaries and associates of ESTAVIS AG 
can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The scope of the Group structure of ESTAVIS AG was reduced significantly by the disposal 
of loss-making investments in the 2008/2009 financial year and the number of segments 
was also reduced from five to three (see diagram). The Property management and Property 
asset management segments are not being continued. Some of the Retail trading segment 
is also being discontinued.

The discontinued operations comprise the majority investments in ESTAVIS Property Man-
agement GmbH, Berlin, and in Hamburgische Immobilien Investment SUCV AG, Hamburg.

As part of a management buy-out, ESTAVIS AG sold its 50.1 % majority interest in ESTAVIS 
Property Management GmbH, Berlin, to a minority shareholder. The disposal took effect as 
of the end of December 2008.

The majority stake (80.4 %) in Hamburgische Immobilien Investment SUCV AG was sold to 
VPE VARIO Private Equity AG, Hamburg, for EUR 3.4 million on 22 June 2009. 

The diagram below illustrates the breakdown of continued operations within the Group. 
The Portfolio trading and Development segments are managed by the operative units of the 
ESTAVIS subgroup. The B&V Group focuses on the sale of properties to private investors. 

ESTAVIS AG, Berlin

ESTAVIS subgroup B&V Group

Portfolio trading Development
Property sale to 
private investors

Breakdown of continued operating activities in the ESTAVIS Group.

1.3 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

a) Macroeconomic development
The 2008/2009 financial year was dominated by a significant downturn in global economic 
activity. While the German economy posted overall growth of 1.3 % in 2008, recessive 
trends had already been sighted in the second half of the year. Gross domestic product 
was down significantly year-on-year in the first half of 2009. The German government is 
forecasting a decline in gross domestic product of around 6 % in 2009 as a whole. Thus, 
the Federal Republic of Germany is experiencing its worst recession since it was founded. 
Economic experts are not expecting to see a turnaround before 2010.
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The downturn in the economy as a whole in the 2008/2009 financial year went hand-in-
hand with a significant drop in investment activity. In addition to uncertain future fore-
casts, corporate investment behaviour was also impaired by deteriorating financing con-
ditions. The global finance sector was exposed to severe turbulence as a consequence 
of the subprime crisis in the US. Following the insolvency of the US investment bank 
Lehman Brothers, major banks and insurance companies around the world were rescued 
or received massive support through state intervention. The loss of confidence within the 
finance sector thus entailed had a strong negative effect on the refinancing of banks and 
thereby lending to companies. 

To stimulate the economy, the Federal Reserve Bank in the US and the European Central 
Bank lowered their key interest rates step-by-step to historically low levels. Over the course 
of 2009, the inflation rate in Germany was significantly below the stability level of 2 %. The 
inflation rate in 2008 had been 2.6 %.

b) Development in the German housing market
With around 39.9 million residential units, Germany has the largest housing market in 
Europe, but is different from other European countries in terms of its ownership structure 
and price development. At 42 %, the German market has a relatively low level of owners. 
In contrast to other major markets such as Spain or France, the price performance of 
residential property remained stable for many years. However, the price level has been 
in decline since the start of the financial and economic crisis in 2007. Compared to many 
Western European countries and the US, German residential property prices are relatively 
attractive. This applies in particular to resale properties. By contrast, rents have increased 
by an average of 0.5 % per year. The German property market has diverged from its western 
European counterparts in this respect, with domestic rental yields continuing to outper-
form the international average.

The German residential market also has a low level on construction activity compared to 
the rest of Europe. The number of building permits for apartments declined by around 4 % 
in 2008 to 176,000 units. Thus, only 21 new apartments were built per 10,000 inhabitants. 
With a new building ratio (number of new apartments to total apartments) of around 0.4 %, 
construction activity is at a historically low level and is continuing the trend of recent 
years. New construction work in Western Germany has largely stagnated and is even in 
decline in Eastern Germany. Housing demand is primarily driven by the energetic redevel-
opment of portfolio properties.

As a result of favourable economic conditions, institutional investment activity on the 
German property market increased substantially between 2003 and 2007 – particularly 
among foreign investors, who have accounted for 80 % of transaction volumes. In 2007, 
property investment reached a new high with an estimated total volume of around EUR 60 
billion. Since the international property and financial market crisis erupted, institutional in-
vestors have shown massive restraint in terms of activity on the German property market. 
According to industry estimates, transaction volumes slumped by more than half in 2008. 
The slump continued in the first half of 2009 with a transaction volume of only around EUR 
3 billion. This development is not indicative of deterioration in the attractiveness of the 
German property market, but rather can be attributed to the negative impact of the crisis 
on financing conditions, which is posing a barrier to heavily debt-financed investments in 
particular. 
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Nonetheless, the prospects for the German residential property market are still considered 
positive. The market is defined by long-term trends and is therefore less susceptible to 
economic fluctuations. The number of households will continue to rise driven by a growing 
trend towards smaller households. In light of the low level of new construction activity in 
Germany, this will lead to rising demand for residential space and thereby to rising prices 
and rents – particularly in conurbations. 
   
1.4 LEGAL CONDITIONS
 
ESTAVIS AG is a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) based in Germany and has issued 
voting shares that are listed on an organised market as defined by section 2 (7) of the 
German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG), namely the Regulated Market 
of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Prime Standard).

a) Managing body
The legal managing and representative body of ESTAVIS AG is the Management Board. The 
composition of the Management Board and the appointment of its members are based on 
sections 76, 84 and 85 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) in conjunction with 
Article 6 of the company’s Articles of Association. In accordance with these provisions, 
the Management Board is composed of one or several members. The Supervisory Board 
determines the number of members of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board 
may appoint up to five Management Board members and specify a Management Board 
member to act as Chairman. At present, the company’s Management Board consists of the 
Chairman and three additional members.

In accordance with section 84 of the AktG, the members of the Management Board are 
appointed by the Supervisory Board for a maximum term of five years. They may be reap-
pointed or their term extended for a maximum of five years in each case. The appointment 
and reappointment of members requires a corresponding resolution by the Supervisory 
Board to be passed no more than one year before the expiration of the respective mem-
ber’s term. The Supervisory Board may revoke the appointment of a Management Board 
member prior to the expiration of his or her term for good cause.

b) Amendment of the Articles of Association
In accordance with section 179 of the AktG, any amendment to the Articles of Association 
requires a resolution by the General Meeting. This does not apply to amendments and ad-
ditions to the Articles of Association that relate solely to their wording, the responsibility 
for which has been transferred to the Supervisory Board in accordance with Article 11 (2) 
of the Articles of Association.

In accordance with sections 133 and 179 of the AktG in conjunction with Article 13 (3) 
of the Articles of Association, resolutions by the General Meeting on amendments to the 
Articles of Association require a simple majority of the votes cast and a simple majority of 
the share capital represented when the resolution is adopted, unless a larger majority is 
prescribed by law or the Articles of Association in an individual case.

c) Capital structure 
As of 30 June 2009, the issued capital (share capital) of ESTAVIS AG amounted to EUR 
8,099,427 and was composed of 8,099,427 no-par value bearer shares. There are no dif-
ferent stock classes.
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The Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 
acquire up to 809,942 treasury shares and sell them while excluding subscription rights 
up to and including 19 August 2010.

The Management Board is also authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 
increase the share capital of the company by a maximum of EUR 2,125,000 by issuing new 
no-par value bearer shares in exchange for non-cash or cash contributions on one or more 
occasions up to and including 22 February 2012 (Authorised Capital I). Subject to the con-
ditions described below, shareholders are granted statutory subscription rights.

The Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude 
shareholders’ statutory subscription rights in the following cases:

• to adjust for fractional amounts;

• in the case of capital increases in exchange for cash contributions if the respective 
capital increase does not exceed 10% of the company’s share capital and the issue 
price does not materially fall below the relevant stock market price. For the purposes 
of this authorisation, the issue price for the purchase of new shares by an intermedi-
ary with the simultaneous obligation of such intermediary to offer the new shares for 
purchase by one or more third parties designated by the company is deemed to be the 
amount that must be paid by the third party or parties;

• for the purpose of acquiring companies, interests in companies, parts of companies, 
intellectual property rights such as patents or trademarks or licenses thereto, or other 
product rights or other contributions in kind;

• for the issuance of employee shares to employees of the company or its affiliates; or

• in other cases that are considered to be in the interests of the company.

The Management Board is also responsible, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, for 
determining the further content of the stock rights and the other details of the implementa-
tion of capital increases from authorised capital.

The Management Board is also authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 
further increase the share capital of the company by a maximum of EUR 1,362,213 by issu-
ing new no-par value bearer shares in exchange for non-cash or cash contributions on one 
or more occasions up to and including 22 February 2012 (Authorised Capital II). Authorised 
Capital II is subject to the same provisions on the exclusion of shareholders’ statutory 
subscription rights and the other conditions as described for Authorised Capital I above.

The Management Board is also authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to increase the share capital of the company by issuing up to 562,500 new no-par value 
bearer shares in exchange for non-cash or cash contributions up to and including 19 Feb-
ruary 2014 (Authorised Capital III). Authorised Capital III is subject to the same provisions 
on the exclusion of shareholders’ statutory subscription rights and the other conditions as 
described for Authorised Capital I above.

The Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue 
convertible or option bonds or profit participation certificates with or without conversion or 
pre-emption rights (referred to collectively below as “bonds”) with a total nominal amount 
of up to EUR 100,000,000 on one or more occasions up to and including 19 February 2014. 
Subject to the conditions described below, shareholders are granted subscription rights.
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The Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 
exclude shareholders’ statutory subscription rights in the following cases:

• to adjust for fractional amounts;

• to issue convertible and/or option bonds and/or profit participation certificates with
conversion or pre-emption rights for subscription to individual investors, provided that 
the shares issued on account of these bonds does not exceed 10 % of the existing 
share capital in accordance with section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG;

• to offer profit participation certificates without conversion or pre-emption rights for
subscription to individual investors provided that the issue price is not significantly 
less than the theoretical fair value of the profit participation certificates as calculated 
in line with recognised financial methods and provided that the profit participation 
certificates only have the characteristics of a debenture, i. e. if they do not constitute 
any shareholder rights in the company, nor any conversion or pre-emption rights, do 
not grant any entitlement to the liquidation proceeds and if the amount of the interest 
yield is not based on the net profit for the period, balance sheet profit or dividend;

• to the extent that this is necessary to grant bearers of conversion or pre-emption 
rights granted by the company or companies in the Group to shares of the company 
pre-emption rights to bonds issued under this authorisation in the amount they would 
be entitled to after exercising their conversion or pre-emption rights or after satisfying 
any conversion obligation (dilution protection), or

• if bonds are issued in exchange for non-cash contributions and the disapplication of 
 pre-emption rights is overwhelmingly in the interests of the company.

The Management Board is also responsible, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, for 
determining the further details of the issue and features of the bonds, including in particu-
lar the term, issue and exercise periods, termination, issue price, interest rate, denomination, 
adjustment of the subscription price and grounds for a conversion obligation.

By way of resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 20 February 2009, the share capital 
has been contingently increased by up to EUR 3,239,770 by issuing up to 3,239,770 new 
no-par value bearer shares with profit participation from the start of the financial year in 
which they are issued (Contingent Capital 2009). The contingent capital increase will only 
be implemented to the extent that

• the bearers of convertible and/or option bonds and/or profit participation certifi-
cates with conversion or pre-emption rights issued by the company or its subordinate 
Group companies on the basis of the authorisation resolution by the Annual General 
Meeting on 20 February 2009 up to and including 19 February 2014 exercise their 
conversion or pre-emption rights and the company decides to serve the conversion or 
pre-emption rights from this contingent capital, or

• the bearers of convertible and/or option bonds and/or profit participation certifi-
cates with conversion or pre-emption rights with a conversion obligation issued by 
the company or its subordinate Group companies on the basis of the authorisation 
resolution by the Annual General Meeting on 20 February 2009 up to and including 
19 February 2014 satisfy their obligation and the company decides to serve the con-
version or pre-emption rights from this contingent capital.
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d) Transfer and voting right restrictions
The shares of ESTAVIS AG were not subject to any voting right restrictions in accordance 
with statutory provisions or the Articles of Association as of the balance sheet date. All 
shares issued as of 30 June 2009 carry full voting rights and each grant the holder one vote 
at the Annual General Meeting.

e) Equity interests and rights of control
As of the balance sheet date, Rainer Schorr Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin, directly 
held 31.9 % (previous year: 38.5 %) of the shares of ESTAVIS AG. A total of 35.5 % (previous 
year: 43.6 %) of the shares of the company were attributable to Mr. Rainer Schorr directly 
and indirectly through Rainer Schorr Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH. The company is not 
aware of any other direct or indirect interests in its share capital that exceed 10 % of the 
voting rights.

None of the shares issued by ESTAVIS AG carry rights that grant the holders special rights 
of control.

There is no information on voting right controls for employees holding equity interests in 
the company who do not directly exercise their rights of control.

f) Impacts of potential takeover bids
There are no material agreements between ESTAVIS AG and other parties that would come 
into force, change or be terminated in the event of a change of control in the company as 
the result of a takeover bid.

ESTAVIS AG has not concluded any agreements that provide for the compensation of mem-
bers of the Management Board or employees in the event of a takeover bid.

1.5 ESTAVIS SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
 
Since 2 April 2007 (date of initial listing), ESTAVIS’ shares have been traded on the Regu-
lated Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Prime Standard). The company’s shares are 
also traded on the Regulated Market of the Berlin Stock Exchange and the OTC markets of 
the Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart and Düsseldorf Stock Exchanges.

The opening price of ESTAVIS shares in the 2008/2009 financial year (Xetra trading) was 
EUR 5.90. As the year progressed, ESTAVIS’ shares were not immune to the severe de-
clines in financial and property shares. At the end of the financial year on 30 June 2009, 
the shares were listed at EUR 1.45. On the basis of the total number of ESTAVIS shares 
(8,099,427), this corresponds to a market capitalisation of around EUR 12 million. 

The average daily trading volume (Xetra) in ESTAVIS’ shares was 9,168 in the 2008/2009 
financial year (previous year: 11,760).
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2 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION

2.1 SUMMARY ASSESSMENT AND COMPARISON OF FORECAST AND 
 ACTUAL BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
 
The economic development of the ESTAVIS Group in the 2008/2009 financial year was 
impacted to a large extent by the crisis affecting the global property and financial mar-
kets. Investments in the German property market by institutional investors again dropped 
sharply as against the previous year. In particular, this related to the volatile Portfolio 
trading segment. After the sale of two property portfolios with a total amount of around 
EUR 61 million was agreed at the end of the 2007/2008 financial year, these transactions 
were then not implemented. No further property portfolios were sold in the 2008/2009 
financial year on account of the adverse market conditions. 

However, the performance in Retail trading was encouraging. Overall, 660 units were sold 
to private investors in continued operations in the 2008/2009 financial year. This corre-
sponds to an increase of 47 % as against the previous year’s figure. This positive perform-
ance confirms ESTAVIS AG’s stronger focus on the attractive market segment of property 
sales to private investors. 

However, Retail trading did not compensate for the slump in Portfolio trading, with the 
result that total revenues for the 2008/2009 financial year fell by around 41 % from EUR 
120.2 million to EUR 70.7 million.

The development in key earnings figures was characterised by the downturn in revenues 
and total operating performance (EUR 79.1 million as against EUR 109.2 million in the pre-
vious year). Given the downward price trends on the German property market, write-downs 
were also recognised on some inventory assets. This led to a one-off, non-cash expense 
of EUR 15.1 million. As a result of these effects, the consolidated net loss from continued 
operations fell to EUR –27.9 million (previous year: EUR –3.6 million). 

Taking account of the net loss of the period from discontinued activities of EUR –18.3 mil-
lion, the total consolidated net loss for the period was EUR –46.3 million.

Considerable operating adjustments were made in the 2008/2009 financial year in order 
to substantially improve the company’s earnings situation. With an equity ratio of 23.7 % 
(previous year: 38.2 %) ESTAVIS AG still enjoys a solid equity base. 

As one of Germany’s biggest providers of apartments for private investors, ESTAVIS is 
strategically very well positioned. Despite a challenging business environment, the Retail 
segment developed in a pleasing fashion over the last financial year. The Retail segment 
remains the core area for business activities in the ESTAVIS Group. 

In light of the disposal of material investments in the 2008/2009 financial year, the pres-
entation below is based on the figures for continued operations. The comparison of the 
actual and forecast business performance is not very informative on account of the sub-
stantial changes in the Group’s structure. The figures for the previous year have been re-
stated for purposes of comparability. For a detailed presentation of the key figures relating 
to discontinued activities, refer to the Group Notes, section 6.25.
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2.2 EARNINGS SITUATION
 
The ESTAVIS Group’s key revenue and earnings figures for continued operations developed 
as follows in the period under review:

2008/2009 2007/2008 Change

TEUR TEUR in %

Revenues (from continued activities) 70.7 120.2 –41.2

EBIT (from continued activities) –23.4 –4.4 427.9

Net profit (from continued activities) –27.9 –3.6 674.1

In the 2008/2009 financial year, consolidated revenue from continued operations fell by 
41.2% to EUR 70.7 million. This decline was due to a slump in revenue from Portfolio trading. 
Meanwhile, the residential property segment recorded a significant rise in revenues: 

The ESTAVIS Group’s revenues from continued operations are broken down into the following 
business segments for financial reporting purposes:

• Retail trading EUR 62.1m (previous year: EUR 44.6m) 

• Portfolio trading EUR 8.2m (previous year: EUR 75.6m)

• Other business activities EUR 0.4m (previous year: EUR 0.0m)

660 units (previous year: 448) with a total residential and usable space of 33,941 m² (pre-
vious year: 24,521 m²) were sold in the Retail trading segment. In the reporting period, the 
Portfolio trading segment sold zero units (previous year: 1,402).

As a result of falling revenues and one-off effects, earnings before interest and taxes from 
continued operations (EBIT; operating result plus net income from associates) fell by 
EUR 19.0 million in the 2008/2009 financial year as compared with the prior year period. 
This meant that ESTAVIS recorded a consolidated net loss from continued operations of 
EUR –27.9 million, down EUR 24.3 million on the consolidated net loss generated in the 
previous year. 

The biggest loss driver was portfolio trading, which recorded segment sales of EUR 8.2 
million (previous year: EUR 75.6 million) and a segment result of EUR –25.9 million (previ-
ous year: EUR –4.1 million). Key factors driving the result in the Portfolio trading segment 
were the lack of portfolio sales and considerable changes in the market value of real estate 
inventories (EUR –15.0 million).

In the Retail segment, revenue increased from EUR 44.6 million in the previous year to 
the current figure of EUR 62.1 million. The number of units sold increased from 448 in the 
previous year to 660 in the 2008/2009 financial year. Due to the pleasing revenue trend, 
the segment result rose to EUR 2.5 million (previous year: EUR 40,000).

The Development segment generated a result of EUR 0.1 million from rental revenue (previ-
ous year:  EUR –0.2 million). 

For a detailed presentation of the segment performance, refer to the Group Notes, section 5. 
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In the 2007/2008 financial year, the gross margin on continued operations (revenues 
plus changes in inventories less cost of materials/revenues) was 10.4 % (previous year: 
9.0 %). However, these values cannot be compared. On the one hand, the cost of materials 
in the previous year suffered much more from the settlement of the effects of purchase 
price allocation (particularly from the acquisition of B&V) than the cost of materials in the 
reporting period. On the other hand, the cost of materials in the reporting period includes 
write-downs on inventory properties of EUR 15.1 million. If one includes selling expenses 
in the gross margin and adjusts the costs of materials for write-downs, the margin for the 
2008/2009 financial year amounts to 9.7 % (previous year: 7.9 %).

The rise in other operating income (from continued operations) of EUR 3.0 million is essen-
tially due to the increase in rental income from inventory property of EUR 3.1 million. In 
particular, this relates to the longer holding period of a larger amount of inventory property 
in the Portfolio trading segment.

Staff costs (from continued operations) were steady year-on-year at EUR 3.2 million.

However, other operating expenses (from continued operations) rose by EUR 18.6 million. 
This increase is mainly due to higher selling costs (EUR 14.3 million), particular in retail 
trading of. In the previous year these costs were mostly included in the cost of materials 
as a result of the acquisition of the B&V Group, which means that there is little informative 
value to a comparison of this cost position with the figure for the previous year.  

Miscellaneous other operating expenses climbed by EUR 4.0 million. The main reasons for 
this increase were the rise in write-downs on receivables of EUR 2.8 million and the rise in 
the cost of rental guarantees of EUR 0.5 million.

Interest income fell by EUR 1.8 million as against the previous year, while at the same time 
interest expenses rose by EUR 1.2 million. This is essentially due to the longer holding 
periods for inventory properties in portfolio trading. The financial result (from continued 
operations) declined from EUR –1.8 million in the previous year to EUR –4.9 million.

As a result of the consolidated net loss for the period and the recognition of deferred tax 
assets from tax loss carryforwards, ESTAVIS recorded tax income of EUR 0.4 million in the 
period under review (previous year: EUR 2.6 million).

Further detailed information on the composition and amount of the Group’s income and 
expenses can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.3 FINANCIAL AND NET ASSET SITUATION

The development of the ESTAVIS Group’s financial and net asset situation as of 30 June 
2009 reflects the more difficult general economic conditions in the 2008/2009 financial 
year. A comparison of balance sheet items with those for the previous year is only possible 
to a limited extent as the assets and liabilities of the HAG Group held for sale have been 
reclassified and are now reported separately in the balance sheet. A detailed presentation 
of the asset and liability items held for sale can be found in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, section 6.25.

Total assets as of 30 June 2009 declined by EUR 42.5 million from EUR 249.8 million in the 
previous year to EUR 207.3 million. 
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The change in non-current assets (EUR –16.4 million) is essentially due to the reclassifica-
tion of the non-current assets of the HAG Group to assets held for sale. 

In the period under review, the Group invested EUR 0.4 million (previous year: EUR 0.7 
million) in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Financial assets (not in-
cluding investment property) decreased from EUR 0.3 million in the previous year to EUR 
0.2 million.

Current assets (including the reclassification of assets held for sale) were down as a result 
of the reduction in trade receivables (EUR –25.6 million) and the decline in the liquidity posi-
tion (EUR –21.9 million). As of the end of the reporting period, current assets were composed 
of the retail property portfolio (EUR 80.7 million; previous year: EUR 103.7 million), current 
receivables (EUR 53.4 million; previous year: EUR 81.7 million) and cash and cash equiva-
lents (EUR 3.9 million; previous year: EUR 25.7 million) plus the assets of the HAG Group 
held for sale (EUR 47.0 million).

As a result of the consolidated net loss in the 2008/2009 financial year, the Group’s 
equity ratio fell from 38.2 % in the previous year to 23.7 %. In contrast, its gearing (debt/
total capital) rose from 61.8 % to 76.3 %. The negative cash flow situation and the reclas-
sification of cash and cash equivalents to assets held for sale also meant that the ratio 
of cash and cash equivalents to total assets fell from 10.3 % to 1.9 % in the period under 
review. This was accompanied by a reduction in the Group’s liquidity ratio (cash and cash 
equivalents/current liabilities not including liabilities held for sale) from 19.5 % in the previ-
ous year to 2.5 % in the 2008/2009 financial year. 

As a result of the reclassification of liabilities held for sale, financial liabilities declined EUR 
32.3 million to EUR 68.5 million and essentially include liabilities to banks. EUR 67.9 mil-
lion of this relates to current liabilities with non-current liabilities accounting for EUR 0.6 
million. Other changes arose in advance payments received, which were EUR 7.0 million 
lower year-on-year taking into account the reclassification to liabilities held for sale. Other 
current liabilities, which rose by EUR 2.8 million as against the previous year to EUR 25.6 
million, primarily consist of liabilities from investment companies for short-term loans and 
settlement accounts.

In the reporting period, cash and cash equivalents decreased significantly by EUR 21.9 
million to EUR 3.9 million. This decline is due to the reclassification of EUR 8.8 million as 
assets held for sale as well as a negative cash flow of EUR 13.0 million.

Key figures from the cash flow statement 2008/2009 2007/2008

Mio. EUR Mio. EUR

Cash flow from operating activities –12.2 –3.5

Cash flow from investing activities –0.7 –5.7

Cash flow from financing activities –0.2 –1.2

Change in cash and cash equivalents –13.0 –10.3

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 25.7 36.0

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 12.7 25.7

of which cash and cash equivalents reclassified 
as held for sale 8.8 –
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In 2008/2009 financial year, cash flow from operating activities at EUR –12.2 million was 
down considerably against the previous year (EUR –3.5 million). The main factor here was 
the considerably negative operating results trend in the Group during the reporting period.

In the reporting period, cash flow from investing activities totalled EUR –0.7 million (previ-
ous year: EUR –5.7 million). In the previous year, cash flow from investing activities was 
impacted negatively, primarily as a result of acquiring the B&V Group at EUR 8.0 million.

In the reporting period, cash flow from financing activities was slightly negative at EUR 
–0.2 million (previous year: EUR –1.2 million).

Further details on the amount and composition of the Group’s cash flows can be found in 
the cash flow statement and also in the Group Notes, section 6.23.

The significant decrease in cash and cash equivalents and a large portion of current liabili-
ties have had a significant negative impact on ESTAVIS AG’s financial position and results 
of operations and led to liquidity bottlenecks. These bottlenecks were bridged in the short 
term by the issuing of loans from a member of the Management Board and a related party 
of a member of the Management Board, respectively (additional explanations in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements, Section 6.27).

At the same time, the Management Board has introduced and implemented measures to 
improve the company’s future earnings and liquidity situation. The most important meas-
ures included the disposal of loss-making investments, reducing headcount in continuing 
business segments and the significant reduction of overall cost levels.

In addition, negotiations with creditors were begun regarding the prolongation and refi-
nancing of a significant portion of current liabilities. After the balance sheet date, a short-
term loan liability of approximately EUR 12 million was prolonged until the end of JulyJune 
2010. The company is also in advanced negotiations regarding the refinancing of further 
current liabilities amounting to approximately EUR 11 million (see 3. Risk Report and 5. 
Supplementary Report for additional explanations).

2.4 OTHER NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FACTORS
 
The technical expertise and commitment of our employees and executives are essential 
requirements for the ESTAVIS Group’s business performance.

To help retain employee knowledge and skills, the ESTAVIS Group places a strong emphasis 
on attractive working conditions. In particular, this includes a competitive remuneration 
and training system which is continuously monitored and adapted to reflect changes in the 
labour market as appropriate. In addition, we constantly make observations on employee 
satisfaction on the basis of changes in fluctuation rates and sickness levels. Both variables 
have shown low figures in the past. With respect to senior management, too, we aim to 
engender a long-term commitment to the company in order to allow us to maintain our 
long-standing customer relationships.
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3 RISK REPORT

3.1 RISK MANAGEMENT
 
The ESTAVIS Group’s risk management system is geared towards identifying, securing and 
utilising the existing and future success and risk potential of the Group’s commercial activ-
ities in order to generate a sustained increase in enterprise value. An integral component 
of this system is the fact that potentially adverse developments and events are addressed 
in a structured manner and at an early stage, thereby allowing the Management Board to 
initiate countermeasures in good time before significant damage is done.

With the function of detecting and communicating significant risk factors in a prompt man-
ner, and particularly those that are highly relevant in terms of income and liquidity and 
that could therefore jeopardise the Group’s continued existence, the ESTAVIS Group’s risk 
management system is integrated within the Group’s planning, reporting and controlling 
processes at an organisational level. The system is managed on a centralised basis by 
ESTAVIS AG and comprises the systematic identification, analysis, assessment and moni-
toring of material risks by the company’s Management Board. In light of the Group’s clearly 
defined corporate structures and business processes, the level of formalisation has been 
kept comparatively low to date for reasons of efficiency. The close involvement of the 
Management Board in the main business transactions and projects serves to ensure that 
any risks arising are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The risk management system employed by ESTAVIS AG contains the following key ele-
ments:

• a structured and standardised controlling and reporting system that is capable of 
identifying adverse business developments at an early stage and communicating them 
to the company’s management;

• the documentation of relevant risks for the purposes of informing the company’s 
management on a regular or case-by-case basis;

• the frequent and regular assessment of the identified risks and the resolution of 
decisions on any countermeasures or the conscious acceptance of transparent 
risks by the Management Board of ESTAVIS AG.

The financial risk management of the ESTAVIS Group is geared towards managing and 
limiting the financial risks arising from operating activities. In particular, this is intended 
to counter significant bad debt losses that could jeopardise the company’s economic 
development. Another objective of financial risk management is to ensure optimised Group 
financing. To this end, appropriate credit line agreements concluded by the parent com-
pany are used for the centralised financing of the operating Group units. The availability of  
sufficient funds for the company is monitored by a rolling liquidity control.

To date, derivative financial instruments have not been recognised separately in the 
ESTAVIS Group’s risk management system, as they are only used to a negligible extent. 
With regard to the individual risks arising from primary financial instruments, we refer in 
particular to the statements below on the Group’s bad debt and financing risks and the 
information contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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The appropriateness and functionality of the risk early warning system implemented by 
the Group is examined by the auditor in the course of the annual audit of ESTAVIS AG’s 
external financial reporting. Potential improvements identified as a result are subsequently 
incorporated into the system.

3.2 INDIVIDUAL RISKS
 
The ESTAVIS Group is exposed to a large number of different risks which, individually or 
collectively, could adversely affect the net asset, financial and earnings situation of the 
company and its further economic development. According to the Management Board of 
ESTAVIS AG, the following company- and market-specific individual risks should be taken 
into account in particular.

Additional risks of which the company is not currently aware or whose significance is not 
yet known could also have a significant adverse effect on the business development of the 
ESTAVIS Group.

Company-specific risks

a) Project selection risks
The economic success of the ESTAVIS Group depends to a large extent on the selection 
and acquisition of suitable properties. This gives rise to the risk of incorrectly estimating or 
failing to identify the negative structural, legal, commercial and other encumbrances of the 
properties to be purchased. Furthermore, the assumptions made in relation to the income 
potential of the properties could subsequently prove to be partially or entirely incorrect. 
In particular, incorrect estimates relating to the attractiveness of property locations and 
other factors that investors consider to be crucial to decisions to buy could result in prop-
erties not being sold at the planned terms and conditions or within the forecast timeframe.

These property-specific risks are countered by a thorough examination of the relevant 
properties. An internally developed software tool is employed to this extent. As part of the 
property assessment, factors such as expected renovation, maintenance and modernisa-
tion requirements and the earnings power and debt service coverage ratio are examined 
using standard banking benchmarks.
 
b) Property portfolio risks
The ESTAVIS Group primarily holds its property portfolios on a short-term basis, but some 
properties are held for longer periods. As long as properties are held by the company, 
there is a risk of devaluation due to a deterioration in the social structures of the respec-
tive locations, excessive levels of wear and tear, unexpectedly high renovation require-
ments or similar factors. 

Property portfolio risks will be countered by the measures described in section 3.2 a. In 
addition, in order to protect against the risk, that a sale cannot be realised on a short-term 
basis, rights of cancellation are sometimes included in the purchase agreement. In such 
cases, the risk is generally restricted to downpayments that are primarily payable at a high 
level and that cannot be reimbursed in the event of withdrawal from the purchase agree-
ment.
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c) Construction risks
To the extent that construction measures are required for the properties traded or leased 
by the Group, there is a risk that the resulting construction costs could significantly exceed 
forecasts. This risk is countered through detailed construction cost planning and strict 
monitoring.

d) Sales risks
A key factor in the ESTAVIS Group’s corporate development is the long-standing, estab-
lished business relationships and personal contacts between its management and existing 
and potential investors. This applies in particular to the Portfolio trading segment, where 
transactions are conducted with a relatively transparent group of investors. In order to 
protect the existing customer base and ensure its continuous expansion, the members of 
the Management Board are granted an interest in the company’s share capital with a view 
to retaining their personal expertise and guaranteeing their commitment on a long-term 
basis. Risk limitation through the reduction of dependence on individual investors also 
forms part of the Group’s continuous risk controlling activities.

In the area of residential property trading, ESTAVIS draws upon an extensive network of 
experienced external sales partners. This means that its commercial success is dependent 
to a large extent on recruiting qualified brokers and retaining their services on a long-term 
basis. This is achieved in particular through attractive remuneration conditions.

A portion of the remuneration for external sales partners is normally payable on conclu-
sion of the notarised agreement. The risk exists that the buyer pulls out of the purchase 
agreement within the permitted cancellation period. While the partial remuneration for 
the external sales partner can be claimed back in such cases, there is the risk that these 
receivables will not be collectable.

The primary risk to the Group’s property rentals is that the properties offered will fail to 
meet tenants’ expectations, resulting in vacancies. ESTAVIS strives to reduce this risk by 
intensively monitoring the rental market on an ongoing basis, including analysing tenant 
requirements, as well as improving the attractiveness of its properties by performing mod-
ernisation work as appropriate.

e) Financing, liquidity and interest rate risks
In relation to the existing loans for financing the properties held by the Group and the new 
borrowing required to acquire additional properties, there is a risk that company-specific 
and market-specific developments may make it harder to borrow funds and/or make such 
borrowing possible only on less favourable terms. 

In light of an ongoing restrictive lending policy at German and international banks, how-
ever, there is the risk that lenders accelerate the loans extended to finance properties 
before they are sold. Depending on the extent of the accelerated loan, the ESTAVIS Group 
could be exposed to a risk in terms of its solvency. The ESTAVIS Group has concluded loan 
agreements with several banks in order to counter this risk. 

As of the time of the consolidated financial statements being prepared, the ESTAVIS Group 
is in advanced talks with lenders to prolong and refinance a significant portion of its cur-
rent liabilities. 
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After the balance sheet date, the prolongation of a short-term loan liability of approximate-
ly EUR 12 million was agreed until the end of June 2010. The company is also in advanced 
negotiations regarding the refinancing of current liabilities amounting to approximately 
EUR 11 million (see 5. Supplementary Report).

Nevertheless, the risk still exists that the planned prolongation and refinancing cannot be 
implemented.

In addition, there is the risk that acquiring company VPE VARIO Private Equity AG will not 
fulfil its payment obligations from the purchase of shares in the HAG Group on schedule. 
As of the deadline for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the 
2008/2009 financial year, around 52 % of the HAG shares were transferred successively 
to VPE VARIO Private Equity AG and corresponding payments were made.

Interest rate risks exists for the liabilities intended for prolongation or refinancing and the 
planned loans to finance properties.

A change in overall interest rates could have a certain impact on the Group’s cash flow and 
the interest income generated from its cash and cash equivalents; however, based on the 
volumes held at present, any such effect would likely be minimal. Far more important is 
the potential indirect effect of changes in overall interest rates on property demand (see 
the corresponding information on economic risks).

There are no other significant risks relating to the financial instruments held by the Group 
at present.

f) Bad debt risks
In Retail trading this risk is reduced by not handing over the property until after the full pur-
chase price has been paid. Given the broad customer structure in Retail trading, bad debt 
risks and the influence on the company’s financial situation are only of minor significance.  

In portfolio business the Group primarily sells its properties to customers who form spe-
cial-purpose entities for acquisition purposes, and not directly to corporations or individu-
als. As such, recourse to the shareholders of the buyer is only possible to a limited extent 
in the event of the buyer’s insolvency. To reduce this risk, the ownership of properties is 
not generally transferred to the buyer until the purchase price has been paid into an 
escrow account. 

To the extent that renovation measures are required, it is generally agreed that certain 
purchase price components will only be due after the completion of such measures. These 
purchase price components could be at risk of default if a customer were to file for insol-
vency prior to the completion of renovation. The company also bears the credit risk in the 
event that it enforces rights of rescission or warranty against the seller of a property and 
the seller defaults on the repayment of the purchase price or the fulfilment of the warranty 
rights.

Finally, property purchases are subject to a certain credit risk, as rent payments frequently 
continue to be paid to the seller even after the respective rights, entitlements and obliga-
tions have been transferred, meaning that the seller is then required to pass these pay-
ments on to the ESTAVIS Group.
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g) Legal risks
In the context of their business activities, ESTAVIS Group companies may, in particular, 
become involved in legal disputes and be confronted by (potential) warranty and compen-
sation claims without themselves being able to enforce claims against third parties.

Warranty risks primarily arise if properties are sold individually or in portfolios in the con-
text of asset deals, as the exclusion of liability is generally not agreed in such cases. By 
contrast, this risk is either reduced or eliminated when special-purpose entities them-
selves are sold (share deals), as the exclusion of liability for the properties held by the 
special-purpose entity is generally agreed in such cases.

If ESTAVIS is committed to carrying out renovation and modernisation measures, it usually 
assumes a guarantee for these measures when the property is sold, unless such a guar-
antee has already been concluded. In addition, if such measures have not been performed 
properly, a portion of the agreed selling price may be given up. Significant additional costs 
may also arise in the event of delays to the renovation and modernisation work.

A number of property sale contracts contain contractual commitments on the amount of 
rent payable. If it is not possible to furnish evidence of such commitments, either in general 
or at a specific point in time, certain purchase price components may be due at a later 
date or may even be waived. Short- to medium-term rental guarantees that could lead to 
corresponding equalisation obligations are also issued in individual cases.

When selling individual apartments, ESTAVIS Group companies and their external sales 
partners also perform consultancy services that could lead to compensation claims from 
third parties.

Adequate provisions have been recognised for the legal risks to which the Group is cur-
rently exposed. At present, there are no legal risks, particularly arising from legal disputes, 
that could have a significant adverse effect on the financial position of the ESTAVIS Group.

Market-specific risks

a) Economic risks
To date, the ESTAVIS Group has generated revenues exclusively within Germany. As such, 
a deterioration in the domestic economic climate could lead to a (significant) decline 
in demand for property investments, have a negative impact on rent and price levels and 
impair the credit rating of potential tenants and buyers of properties.

Furthermore, the market environment in Germany is indirectly affected by global economic 
trends. Consequently, a cooling of the economic climate in Europe could have an adverse 
effect on the purchasing behaviour of foreign investors. 

The development of interest rates in Germany is particularly important to domestic prop-
erty demand. An increase in interest rates would make property investments more difficult 
due to rising interest payments. In this case, the borrowing costs for the loans taken out 
by the companies of the ESTAVIS Group would also rise, with a corresponding negative 
impact on earnings.

Given the fact that the majority of institutional property investments in Germany are made 
by investors from Anglo-Saxon countries, the development of the currency markets could 
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also have a sustained impact on the German property market. In the event of a turnaround 
on the currency markets resulting in the sustained appreciation of the U.S. dollar and the 
pound sterling in conjunction with a deterioration in forecast yields on the German prop-
erty market, foreign investors could choose to withdraw from Germany. This would have a 
corresponding adverse effect on selling prices.

b) Sector risks
A deterioration in the general conditions on the German property market could have a 
negative influence on the business performance of ESTAVIS AG. A further decline in the 
prices of properties would hamper the realisation of gains on the disposal of the proper-
ties held. At the same time, additions of attractively priced properties could be limited as 
potential sellers are unwilling to sell on account of the low price level.

The development in the property sector is also largely determined by the availability of 
finance instruments. Persistent restrictive lending in Germany and abroad could have a 
negative impact on demand for property overall. 

The property sector is characterised by intense competition among numerous providers. 
As such, there is a risk that the competition will adopt the competitive advantages of the 
ESTAVIS Group. This could lead to increased price pressure and lower margins.

Finally, demand for residential properties could also be negatively impacted by the 
expected decline in the German population and the resulting potential downturn in living 
space requirements.

c) Legal conditions
As the business activities of the ESTAVIS Group are regulated by the specific legal condi-
tions applying to property, they may be adversely affected by amendments to national 
and/or European legislation or the changed interpretation or application of existing legisla-
tion, including tenancy law, public construction law, preservation law and tax law.

Any changes in tax law regarding the deductibility of redevelopment expenses for property 
buyers can pose risks to the business development of the Retail Trading segment. How-
ever, there is no evidence of such a change in tax law at this time.

3.3 OTHER INFLUENCES
 
In addition to the risks described above, the Group is subject to general influences that 
are not foreseeable and that are difficult to counteract, including political changes, social 
influences and risk factors such as natural disasters and terrorist attacks. These factors 
could have an adverse effect on the economic environment and hence indirectly impair the 
further business development of the ESTAVIS Group.

3.4 ASSESSMENT OF THE OVERALL RISK
 
Given the ongoing restrictions on national and international credit markets, the assess-
ment of financing risks has changed since the previous year. Due to the restricted lend-
ing policies, financing necessary for ESTAVIS Group’s business model is currently im-
peded . Financial planning for the coming years explicitly takes into account the changed 
financing situation.
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As of the time of the consolidated financial statements being prepared, the ESTAVIS 
Group is in advanced talks with lenders to prolong and refinance a significant portion of 
its current liabilities. This could result in a threat to the Company as a going concern only 
if, contrary to expectations, the debt cannot be prolonged and refinanced.

In addition, a threat to the Company as a going concern can result if the planned sales 
volume as well as measures to improve the financing situation cannot be implemented 
to a significant extent.

4 FORECAST REPORT
 
The following statements on the future business performance of ESTAVIS Group and the 
factors considered to be crucial in terms of the development of the market, the sector and 
the company are based on the estimates made by the Management Board of the company. 
Based on the available information, the assumptions made are currently considered to be 
realistic. All forecasts involve the risk that the developments predicted will not actually occur, 
either in terms of their extent or the general trend. The material risks to which ESTAVIS 
believes it is exposed are explained in the Risk Report.

4.1 FUTURE ORIENTATION OF BUSINESS AND THE COMPANY
 
In the 2009/2010 financial year, ESTAVIS Group will continue and enhance its strategic 
and operative orientation towards attractive segments in the German property market. 
Its business activities will continue to focus on the sale of residential property to private 
investors. In light of the growing significance of property as a private pension plan and the 
generally positive conditions on the German property market, the company is anticipating 
that the business potential in this segment will increase in future.

A recovery in business activities in Portfolio trading is largely dependent on the normali-
sation of conditions of the international financial markets. Given the current jitters on 
the international financial market, the conclusion of successful portfolio transactions for 
the 2009/2010 financial year is unpredictable. In the Development segment ESTAVIS will 
be involved in promising projects if a later sale or rental is ensured. There are no such 
projects at the current time.

ESTAVIS AG will continue to pursue its chosen path of business consolidation in the 
2008/2009 financial year.
  
4.2 DEVELOPMENT OF THE ECONOMY AS A WHOLE AND 
 THE RESIDENTIAL MARKET
 
According to current forecasts by leading economic research institutes and the German 
government, 2009 will offer a challenging overall economic environment with a forecast 
decline in gross domestic product of around 6 %. Most analysts are currently assuming that 
economic output in 2010 will either stagnate or rise only slightly.

Following the significant lowering of interest rates by the central banks in Europe and 
the US, the scope for further interest cuts as a tool for stimulating the economy is slight. 
In spite of the current low inflation rate of less than 1 %, it is expected that key interest 
rates will have to be raised in the medium term. The reason for this is the sharp rise in the 
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amount of money as result of the intervention by the key central banks around the world 
to stimulate the economy. Raising interest rates would limit major inflation but also slow 
any recovery. 

The financial market crisis has led to restrictive lending policies at banks, which is ham-
pering investments in the German property market. This is mainly affecting institutional 
investors, who now have to finance projects with greater equity shares and bank margins. 
In light of the difficult financing conditions, institutional investment activities are not ex-
pected to recover in the near future. 

In our opinion, the financial market crisis will continue to have no significant negative effect 
on the financing of private property investments. For investors with largely low income 
especially, however, access to private property finance has been greatly impeded by the 
withdrawal of several German and international banks from this business segment. At the 
same time though, German banks have extended their activities in private customer busi-
ness. The current low interest rates are also helping some private investors to decide to 
invest in property.

We are assuming that developments on the German residential property market will con-
tinue to remain stable. Long-term demographic trends (population decline, shift in age 
structure) could have a diminishing effect on demand for residential property. However, 
these effects will at least be partially compensated by certain positive factors (increase 
in one and two-person households, decline in average household size, rise in per capital 
living space), which means that the German property sector will essentially remain an at-
tractive market.

Given the extremely low level of new residential construction activity in recent years, Ger-
many is expected to see a shortage of living space in the medium term. This is likely to help 
gradually change the long-standing stagnation of German property prices into an upward 
trend in the foreseeable future. With the apparent market shortage, an increase in rent 
levels is also expected.

4.3 MARKET AND BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES

Demographic and social trends in Germany present considerable opportunities for the 
domestic property market. The number of households and the average per capita space 
requirements are expected to continue to grow in future. According to experts, Germany 
has an annual requirement of 330,000 to 400,000 new apartments. In contrast, the new 
building rate has been significantly less than half of total requirements in recent years. Ac-
cording to the Federal Office of Statistics, building permits were issued for around 170,000 
apartments in 2008. With a new building ratio of 0.4 %, Germany has very little construc-
tion work compared to other European countries.

In structured conurbations in particular, this trend – in conjunction with a rise in immigra-
tion from rural areas – is driving up prices and rents. In turn, this development is leading 
to attractive business prospects for ESTAVIS AG through the sale of residential property to 
private investors or of property portfolios to institutional investors. 

Historically low mortgage rates, a stronger focus on tangible assets due to the financial 
crisis and a growing need for private pension provision are offering positive general condi-
tions for the Retail trading segment. ESTAVIS AG feels there are still good business prospects 
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in this business segment. The 2008 residential market report by CRE Accentro is forecasting 
a transaction volume of more than 100,000 apartments sold with a total value of around EUR 
14 billion for 2007 in Germany’s biggest cities alone (over 100,000 inhabitants).

Additional sales opportunities, primarily in portfolio trading, could also arise if the exist-
ing price differential between the German and international property markets remains in 
place. The low level of prices compared with the rest of the world makes the German prop-
erty market highly attractive to foreign investors in terms of yield considerations. However, 
the finance market will have to normalise before a recovery in institutional portfolio trading 
can occur, and this is not expected to happen in the foreseeable future.

4.4 CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

a) Overall assessment
The 2009/2010 financial year will continue to be characterised by strained overall eco-
nomic developments. Any forecast of an economic recovery beyond 2010 is fraught with 
uncertainty. The development of institutional demand for German residential property is 
dependent on the financing activities of banks returning to normal. At the same time, 
we feel that there are growth prospects in business with private investors. Strategically, 
ESTAVIS Group is very well positioned with its greater focus on this market segment. 

Sales of apartments – primarily listed properties that offer the buyer special tax benefits 
regarding the deductibility of redevelopment expenses – are characterised by a compara-
tively high level of stability and scalability. With the operating B&V Group, the ESTAVIS 
Group has an extremely experienced and successful product provider.

There are plans to strengthen the company’s positioning in terms of property sales. In the 
next two years, the product offering will be expanded further by the sale of properties for 
owner-occupiers. The ESTAVIS Group sees opportunities for organic growth in this area 
which can be tapped with existing organisational structures and financial conditions. Ex-
panding the external sales network should also increase the company’s effectiveness in 
selling apartments.
 
b) Forecast development in the earnings and financial position
For the 2009/2010 financial year, the ESTAVIS AG Management Board is expecting Group 
revenue with the range of EUR 75.0 million and EUR 85.0 million, corresponding to a 
moderate upturn against the comparative figures of the previous year (EUR 70.7 million). 
A return to profitability at net consolidated result level is expected for the 2009/2010 
financial year. The assessment of the expected revenue and profit trend for the 2009/2010 
financial year is based largely on the volume of apartment sales notarised as of the report-
ing date and to the end of the first quarter of 2009/2010. Notarised apartment sales have 
a high probability of generating revenue and earnings in the 2009/2010 financial year.

Furthermore, on the basis of the forecast revenue and earnings trend, the Mangement 
Board expects cash inflows. According to the Management Board, this will result in the 
financial and liquidity situation stabilising – in connection with measures to improve the 
financing structure of the ESTAVIS Group which have already been implemented or are 
planned.
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The guidance for revenue and earnings is based on the planned development of the 
ESTAVIS Group, without taking into major, unexpected events.

For the following financial year, 2010/2011, the Management Board expects consolidated 
revenue and earnings to rise. Due to the current general economic situation, any forecast 
for this period must be regarded as having a high level of uncertainty.  

The revenue and earnings performance of ESTAVIS Group in the 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 
financial years will be heavily influenced by the steady sale of apartments to private inves-
tors. 

However, revenue and earnings performance in the Portfolio trading and Development seg-
ments is hard to predict. An improvement in the business performance of these segments 
is not expected in the short term.

In the 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 financial years, the Management Board will be focusing 
much more on an improved earnings performance by the company. The path of business 
consolidation begun in the 2008/2009 financial year will be continued and cost structures 
will be enhanced. The resources made available will be invested in further growth in the 
Retail trading segment in particular while maintaining a stabile net assets and financial 
position. In addition to its low volatility, this segment also offers an attractive, stable profit 
margin.

On the one hand, the company’s financial and liquidity situation is expected to improve 
due to the prolongation or refinancing of large portions of the current liabilities (also see 
5. Supplementary Report). In this respect, efforts will be made for a significant extension 
of the terms (3-5 years) for large portions of existing current liabilities. At the same time, 
positive operating cash flow expected in the future are expected to contribute to the finan-
cial strengthening of the financial and liquidity situation. 

c) Headcount development
The Management Board of ESTAVIS AG is assuming only a minor change in the number of 
employees in the 2009/2010 financial year following a significant headcount reduction in 
the 2008/2009 financial year. As of the balance sheet date, ESTAVIS Group employed 40 
people in its continued operations.
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5 SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT
 
The majority stake (80.4 %) in Hamburgische Immobilien Investment SUCV AG was sold to 
VPE VARIO Private Equity AG, Hamburg, for EUR 3.4 million on 22 June 2009. The economic 
transfer of shares to the buyer and the payment of the purchase price occur gradually after 
the balance sheet date. As the consolidated financial statements were being prepared, 
considerations of approximately EUR 1.1 million were outstanding.

Florian Lanz was named as the new Chief Executive Officer as of 1 July 2009. The previ-
ous Chief Executive Officer Rainer Schorr did not extend his employment agreement that 
ended on 30 June 2009 for personal reasons.

Rainer Schorr Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin and the Chief Executive Officer of ES-
TAVIS AG, Mr, Florian Lanz, made binding commitments in the total amount of EUR 2.5 mil-
lion in October 2009 regarding bridging of potential liquidity bottlenecks at the company.

In addition, the company and a creditor agreed on the prolongation of a short-term loan 
liability of approximately EUR 12 million until the end of June 2010. The company is also 
in advanced negotiations regarding the refinancing of current liabilities amounting to ap-
proximately EUR 11 million.

In October 2009, the Management Board of ESTAVIS AG resolved to withdraw EUR 32.8 
million from capital reserves.

No other events of particular significance to the business development of the ESTAVIS 
Group have occurred since the end of the 2008/2009 financial year.
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6 KEY FEATURES OF THE REMUNERATION SYSTEM 

 FOR BOARD MEMBERS

The contracts of the members of the Management Board of ESTAVIS AG have been 
concluded for a period of between two and three years and may not be terminated by 
either party during this period other than for good cause. The remuneration paid to the 
Management Board members of ESTAVIS AG consists of fixed annual basic remuneration 
and a variable bonus that depends on the EBIT generated by the company. In addition, the 
Management Board members are granted the use of a company car, and ESTAVIS AG has 
taken out D&O and accident insurance policies on their behalf.

The interest of the Management Board members in the long-term positive growth of the 
ESTAVIS Group is guaranteed by way of the shares in ESTAVIS AG that they hold. No other 
remuneration components with a long-term incentive effect have been agreed with the 
Management Board members at present. A stock option program authorised by the 
General Meeting 2007 has not been implemented. The Management Board members have 
not been granted any pension commitments or other retirement benefits. No arrangements 
for benefits upon early termination have been agreed with the Management Board mem-
bers with the exception of a provision entitling the company to release Management Board 
members from their duties during their statutory notice period and in the event of their 
dismissal, subject to the continued payment of their salary. The employment contracts of 
the Management Board members also prescribe a subsequent restraint on competition.

In addition to the reimbursement of their expenses, the members of the Supervisory Board 
receive fixed annual remuneration for each full financial year of their membership of the 
Supervisory Board. They are also granted variable remuneration, which is currently limited 
to a maximum of 200 % of the respective fixed remuneration per year and is dependent on 
ESTAVIS’ share price performance relative to the share prices of a specific peer group of 
property companies to be determined by the General Meeting. ESTAVIS AG has also taken 
out D&O insurance for the members of the Supervisory Board.

The total remuneration of the Management Board and Supervisory Board members and the 
individual remuneration paid to the Management Board members can be found in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ESTAVIS AG
Section June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

Assets TEUR TEUR

Non-current assets

Goodwill 6.1, 6.3 17,776 20,581

Other intangible assets 6.1, 6.3 18 141

Property, plant and equipment 6.2 485 1,113

Investment property 6.4 – 12,840

Investments in associates 6.5 50 32

Other non-current financial assets 6.6 193 252

Deferred income tax receivables 6.14 3,718 3,684

Total 22,241 38,644

Current assets

Inventories 6.7 80,727 103,703

Trade receivables 6.8 1,955 27,604

Other receivables 6.8 49,424 52,328

Current income tax receivables 2,028 1,759

Cash and cash equivalents 6.9 3,884 25,733

Assets held for sale 6.25 47,029 –

Total 185,047 211,127

Total assets 207,287 249,772
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ESTAVIS AG
Section June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

Equity TEUR TEUR

Issued capital 6.10 8,099 8,099

Capital reserves 44,222 77,065

IAS 39 reserve 16 16

Retained earnings –3,597 1,413

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent 
company 48,740 86,594

Minority interests 340 8,742

Total equity 49,080 95,336

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 6.12 97 429

Non-current financial liabilities 6.11 588 16,517

Deferred income tax liabilities 6.14 4,254 5,238

Total non-current liabilities 4,938 22,184

Current liabilities

Provisions 6.12 4,855 4,416

Current financial liabilities 6.11 67,918 84,281

Advance payments received 4,101 11,055

Current income tax liabilities 1,158 4,430

Trade payables 6.13 6,214 5,297

Other liabilities 6.13 25,586 22,774

Liabilities held for sale 6.25 43,437 –

Total current liabilities 153,269 132,252

Total equity and liabilities 207,287 249,772

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

ESTAVIS AG

Section 2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Revenues 6.15 70,710 120,209

Change in value of investment property 6.4 0 0

Other operating income 6.18 6,989 3,984

Changes in inventories 1,450 –14,962

Total operating performance 79,148 109,230

Cost of materials 6.16 64,776 94,464

Staff costs 6.17 3,196 3,250

Depreciation and amortisation 6.3 135 139

Other operating expenses 6.18 34,468 15,839

Operating result –23,427 –4,463

Net income from associates 6.5 19 29

Interest income 6.19 894 2,708

Interest expenses 6.19 5,776 4,530

Financial result –4,882 –1,822

Pre-tax profit from continued activities –28,289 –6,256

Income taxes 6.20 –361 –2,648

Result from continued activities –27,928 –3,608

Result from discontinued activities 6.25 –18,310 –3,067

Net profit –46,237 –6,675

 attributable to parent company shareholders –37,853 –5,435

 attributable to minority interests –8,385 –1,240

Earnings per share (EUR)

from continued activities –3.45 –0.45

from discontinued activities –1.23 –0.23

from net profit 6.22 –4.67 –0.68
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

ESTAVIS AG

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

 Net profit –46,237 –6,675

+ Depreciation/amortisation of non-current assets 284 312

+/– Increase/decrease in provisions 300 –2,715

+ Impairment on assets held for sale 11,468 –

+/– Change in value of investment property 1,249 1,345

+/– Other non-cash expenses/income 66 345

–/+ Gains/losses from the disposal of non-current assets 63 –22

–/+ Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets that are not 
 attributable to investing or financing activities 15,473 –28,738

+/– Increase/decrease in trade payables and other liabilities that are not attributable to 
 investing or financing activities 4,499 32,678

–/+ Result from the disposal of consolidated companies 680 –

= Cash flow from current operating activities –12,154 –3,469

+ Payments received from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 46 0

+ Payments received for the disposal of financial assets 18 259

+ Payments received from the disposal of investment property 135 3,020

– Payments for investments in intangible assets –38 –118

– Payments for investment property –768 –229

– Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment –394 –576

– Payments for investments in non-current financial assets – –2

+ Payments from the disposal of fully consolidated companies 293

– Payments from the additions of fully consolidated companies – –8,048

= Cash flow from investing activities –708 –5,693

 Payments made by shareholders – 25

– Payments to shareholders –78 –931

+ Payments from issuing bonds and raising (financial) loans 1,008 2,842

– Repayment of bonds and financial loans –1,108 –3,089

= Cash flow from financing activities –178 –1,152

 Net change in cash and cash equivalents –13,040 –10,315

+  Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 25,733 36,048

=  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 12,694 25,733

 attributable to cash and cash equivalents reclassified as assets held for sale 8,810 –

Explanations on individual positions can be found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, sec. 6.23.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUIT Y

for the financial year from July 1, 2008 to June 30, 2009

ESTAVIS AG

Issued 
capital

Capital 
reserves

IAS 39 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Equity attrib-
utable to the 
shareholders 
of the parent 

company

Minority 
interests

Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

As of July 1, 2008 8,099 77,065 16 1,413 86,594 8,742 95,336

Changes in the value of available-
for-sale financial assets – – 0 – 0 – 0

Net profit for the period
July 1, 2008 – June 30, 2009 – – – –37,853 –37,853 –8,385 –46,237

Total recognised income and 
expenses – – 0 –37,853 –37,853 –8,385 –46,237

Acquistion of shares of 
consolidated companies – – – –1 –1 –19 –20

Change in consolidated group – – – – – 2 2

Withdrawal for covering of losses 
from the capital reserve of 
ESTAVIS AG – –32,843 – 32,843 0 – 0

As of June 30, 2009 8,099 44,222 16 –3,597 48,740 340 49,080

Explanations on individual positions can be found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, sec. 6.10.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUIT Y

for the financial year from July 1, 2007 to June 30, 2008

CHANGES IN EQUIT Y

ESTAVIS AG

Issued 
capital

Capital 
reserves

IAS 39 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Equity attrib-
utable to the 
shareholders 
of the parent 

company

Minority 
interests

Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

As of July 1, 2007 7,724 70,577 73 7,280 85,654 10,514 96,168

Changes in the value of available-
for-sale financial assets – – –57 – –57 – –57

Net profit for the period
July 1, 2007 – June 30, 2008 – – – –5,435 –5,435 –1,240 –6,675

Total recognised income and 
expenses – – –57 –5,435 –5,491 –1,240 –6,732

Capital increase in consolidated 
companies – – – – 0 25 25

Capital increase against contribu-
tions in kind (acquisition of B&V 
Group) 375 6,488 – – 6,863 – 6,863

Acquisition of shares of consoli-
dated companies – – – –431 –431 –557 –988

As of June 30, 2008 8,099 77,065 16 1,413 86,594 8,742 95,336

Explanations on individual positions can be found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, sec. 6.10.
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1 BASIC INFORMATION

ESTAVIS AG and its subsidiaries trade in property upon which they undertake maintenance 
work partly for the purpose of resale. Furthermore, property is held as financial invest-
ments. The company is domiciled in Berlin, Germany. The company’s shares are listed on 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange for trading on the Regulated Market (Prime Standard).

As of 30 June 2009, ESTAVIS AG acts as the operating holding company for a number of 
special-purpose entities. Its major operating subsidiaries are Hamburgische Immobilien 
Invest SUCV AG, Hamburg, CWI Real Estate AG, Bayreuth (together: the HAG Group) and 
B&V Bauträger- und Vertriebsgesellschaft für Immobilien mbH, Berlin (B&V Group). The 
companies of the HAG Group were sold by way of agreement dated 22 June 2009 effective 
from the start of the 2009/2010 financial year.

The figures in the reporting period are comparable only to a limited extent with those of the 
prior-year period in respect of the different period of inclusion in the B&V Group (previous 
year: eight months) and the reclassification of the assets and liabilities of the HAG Group 
to assets/liabilities held for sale.

These consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the company’s 
Management Board in November 2009.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
The following section describes the accounting policies applied in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

2.1 Principles
The consolidated financial statements for the 2008/2009 financial year of ESTAVIS AG 
were prepared in accordance with the provisions of Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council dated 19 July 2002 concerning the application 
of international accounting standards in the form of the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) adopted and published by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) as required in the European Union with an orientation to the capital market.

The requirements of the IFRSs were met in full and provide a true and fair view of the 
net assets, financial position and results of operations of the ESTAVIS Group. In order to 
improve the clarity of presentation, some individual income statement and balance sheet 
items are presented in aggregated form. These items are discussed in the notes. The in-
come statement is structured in accordance with the nature of expense method.

As a matter of principle, the consolidated financial statements were prepared using a 
historical cost approach. Available-for-sale financial assets, derivative financial instru-
ments and investment property are carried at fair value.

The estimates and assumptions applied in preparing the IFRS financial statements affect 
the measurement of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabili-
ties at the respective balance sheet dates, and the amount of income and expenses during 
the period under review. Although these assumptions and estimates are made in accord-
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ance with the best of knowledge of the company’s management and on the basis of current 
events and measures, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.

The accounting methods employed in the consolidated financial statements are the same 
as those on which the consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2008 are based. In 
addition, the rules for the presentation of discontinued operations were applied. 

The following new and amended accounting standards and interpretations were required 
to be applied for the first time in preparing the IFRS consolidated financial statements for 
the 2008/2009 financial year:

Standard/Interpretation amended/new

IAS 39 +
IFRS 7

Permitted reclassification of financial assets amended

The first-time adoption of the new accounting standards did not affect the IFRS consoli-
dated financial statements of ESTAVIS AG. In addition, IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” has 
been applied early since the previous year.

In addition, the revised IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate IFRS Financial Statements” 
and the revised IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” were applied early. IAS 27 prescribes the 
treatment of acquisitions and disposals of shares after achieving and retaining control. In 
derogation from the previous treatment, losses relating to minorities that exceed their car-
rying amount must be reported as negative carrying amounts in consolidated equity. The 
new IFRS 3 includes provisions on its scope, purchase price components, the treatment 
of minority interests and goodwill and the scope of the recognised assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities. The standard also contains provisions on the recognition of loss car-
ryforwards and the classification of agreements of the acquired company.   

The following accounting standards that have been published or amended by the IASB and, 
in some cases, not yet endorsed by the European Union will only be required to be adopted 
in preparing future financial statements – subject to their endorsement by the European 
Union – and have not been adopted early by ESTAVIS AG: 

 Standard/Interpretation applicable from 
financial year

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amendments) 2009/2010

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (amendments) 2009/2010

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements under IFRS (amendments) 2009/2010

IAS 32 + 
IAS 1

Amendments: 
Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 2009/2010

IAS 39 Amendments: Eligible Hedged Items 2009/2010

IFRS 1 + 
IAS 27

Amendments: 
Cost of Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates 2009/2010

IAS 39 Amendments: Reclassification of Financial Assets: Effective Date 
and Transition  2009/2010

IAS 39 + 
IFRIC 9

Amendments: 
Embedded Derivatives 2009/2010

IFRS 2 Amendments: Vesting Conditions and Cancellation 2009/2010

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) 2009/2010

IFRS 7 Amendments: Enhancing Disclosures on Financial Instruments 2009/2010

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 2009/2010

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 2009/2010



Consolidated Financial 
Statements

59

NOTES

Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

With the exception of the revised IAS 23, the company does not expect the future 
application of the new accounting standards to have a significant impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements. IAS 23 prescribes the capitalization of borrowing costs in the 
construction phase of qualifying assets from the 2009/2010 financial year. Particularly 
for properties which are renovated before being transferred to customers this is likely to 
result in a capitalization of borrowing costs and to higher balance sheet earnings during 
the introduction phase.

Revision of IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of IFRS (not yet recognised by the EU): The amend-
ments were published on 27 November 2008 and are scheduled to apply for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010. The amendments relate solely to the formal structure 
of IFRS 1; the content of the standard remains unchanged. 

Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 27, Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly-Control-
led Entity or Associate: The amendments were adopted in May 2008 and apply for the first 
time for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The amendments relate in 
particular to the first-time application of IFRS. Due to a lack of relevance, these amend-
ments will not affect the Company’s net assets, financial position and results of operations 
or its cash flows. 

Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations. The 
revised standard applies for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS 2 
provides clarifications and a more precise definition of vesting conditions for share-based 
payment agreements. At present, it does not appear that the amendments will affect the 
Company’s net assets, financial position and results of operations or its cash flows. 

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – A Revised Presentation: The 
revised IAS 1 was published on 6 September 2007 and applies for the first time for finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The amendments relate in particular to the 
presentation of the annual financial statements and comparative information. At present, 
it does not appear that the amendments will affect the Company’s net assets, financial 
position and results of operations or its cash flows. 

Amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements. The revised standard applies for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009. IAS 32 prescribes whether an issuer should recognise a financial 
instrument as equity or a liability. Under certain conditions, the revised version of IAS 32 

Standard/Interpretation applicable from 
financial year

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction 2009/2010

IFRIC 15 Agreements on the Construction of Real Estate 2009/2010

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 2009/2010

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 2009/2010

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers 2009/2010

Various IFRS Improvements 2008 2009/2010

Various IFRS Improvements 2009 2010/2011

IFRS 2 Amendments: Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions 2010/2011

IFRS 1 Change: Additional exemptions for first-time adopters 2010/2011

IFRS 32 Classification of Rights Issues 2010/2011
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allows for puttable instruments to be classified as equity. At present, it does not appear 
that the amendments will affect the Company’s net assets, financial position and results 
of operations or its cash flows. 

Amendments to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Eligible 
Hedged Items (not yet recognised by the EU): The revised IAS 39 was published in July 
2008 and applies for the first time for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. It 
clarifies the application of the basic principles of hedge accounting in two specific situa-
tions – the designation of inflation risk as a hedged item and the designation of a unilateral 
risk in a hedged item. Due to a lack of relevance at present, this interpretation will not 
affect the Company’s net assets, financial position and results of operations or its cash 
flows. 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs: In May 2008, the IASB issued a collection of Improve-
ments to IFRSs as part of its annual update with the aim of streamlining and improving the 
understanding of the International Financial Reporting Standards. These improvements 
consisted of 35 amendments and apply for the first time for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009 or 1 July 2009 respectively. 

IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes: IFRIC 13 was published in June 2007 and applies 
for the first time for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2008. IFRIC 13 addresses 
accounting by entities that grant loyalty award credits (such as “points” or travel miles) to 
customers who buy other goods or services. As the Company does not grant such loyalty 
award credits, this interpretation will not affect its net assets, financial position and results 
of operations or its cash flows. 

IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate: IFRIC 15 was published in July 
2008 and applies for the first time for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 
IFRIC 15 addresses the accounting treatment of sales of real estate where the contract is 
concluded with the buyer before construction is complete. The new provision will not lead 
to a change in the existing accounting treatment. 

IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in A Foreign Operation: IFRIC 16 was published in 
July 2008 and applies for the first time for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 
IFRIC 16 clarifies how to meet the requirements of IAS 21 and IAS 39 in cases where enti-
ties hedge the foreign currency risk arising from a net investment in a foreign operation. As 
the Company does not currently have any investments in foreign operations, this will not 
affect its net assets, financial position and results of operations or its cash flows. 

IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners (not yet recognised by the EU): IFRIC 
17 was published in November 2008 and applies for the first time for financial years begin-
ning on or after 1 July 2009. According to IFRIC 17, a non-cash dividend payable must be 
recognised as soon as the dividend is resolved. The non-cash dividend payable is meas-
ured at the fair value of the net assets to be distributed. When the dividend is paid (i.e. the 
assets are derecognised), the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and 
the fair value at which the payable was measured is recognised in profit or loss. To date, it 
was possible to measure non-cash dividend payables at either the fair value or the carrying 
amount of the corresponding assets. Accordingly, IFRIC 17 eliminates this option. Due to 
a lack of relevance at present, this interpretation will not affect the Company’s net assets, 
financial position and results of operations or its cash flows. 
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IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers (not yet recognised by the EU): IFRIC 18 was 
published in January 2009 and applies for the first time for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 July 2009. IFRIC 18 is particularly relevant for entities in the utility sector and ad-
dresses agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant 
and equipment or cash for the acquisition or construction of a corresponding item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to 
a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services. 
Due to a lack of relevance, these interpretations will not affect the Company’s net assets, 
financial position and results of operations or its cash flows. 

The amendments (2008) to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Reclassification of Financial Assets – Effec-
tive Date and Transition” contain transitional provisions and a clarification of the applica-
tion date of the option introduced in 2008 to measure at amortised cost those non-deriva-
tive financial instruments that were previously measured at fair value. The IASB prescribed 
the mandatory application of these amendments for financial years beginning on or after 1 
July 2008. First-time application is not expected to have a material effect on the financial 
statements of ESTAVIS AG. 

The amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 “Embedded Derivatives” clarify the provisions 
under which, when a financial instrument previously measured at fair value through profit 
or loss is reclassified to the “measured at amortised cost” category, it must be examined 
whether any embedded derivatives contained in the financial instrument are required to 
be separated. The IASB prescribed the mandatory application of these amendments for 
financial years ending on or after 30 June 2009. First-time application is not expected to 
affect the financial statements of ESTAVIS AG. 

The amendments to IFRS 7 (2009) “Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments” 
provide for additional disclosures about financial instruments. In particular, they introduce 
the presentation of a fair value hierarchy that details the extent to which the fair values 
of financial instruments have been determined on the basis of quoted prices or internal 
company data that cannot be observed. Disclosures about the liquidity risk arising from 
financial instruments have also been expanded. The IASB prescribed the mandatory ap-
plication of these amendments for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 
First-time application is not expected to lead to any additional disclosures in the financial 
statements of ESTAVIS AG. 

All amounts contained in the notes and tables are disclosed in thousands of euro unless 
stated otherwise. Both individual and total figures represent the value with the smallest 
rounding difference. Accordingly, adding the values of the individual line items may result 
in slight differences compared with the sum totals presented.

2.2 Consolidation

a) Subsidiaries
All the subsidiaries of ESTAVIS AG are included in the consolidated financial statements. 
This relates to companies whose financial and business policy the Group is able to control, 
either directly or indirectly. A list of the companies included in consolidation can be found 
under section 2.2 d.
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Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control over 
the respective company. They are deconsolidated from the date on which such control 
ends. 

Acquired subsidiaries are recognised in accordance with the purchase method. The cost 
of acquisition corresponds to the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued 
and liabilities created or incurred at the date of exchange, plus any costs directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition. On initial consolidation, any assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities identified in the course of the business combination are recognised at their fair 
value at the acquisition date irrespective of any minority interests. The excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the net assets of the company 
acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value 
of the (proportionate) net assets of the company acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in the income statement. Acquisitions of shares in subsidiaries after control has 
been established are accounted for as equity transactions. The difference between the 
purchase price of the shares and the outgoing minority interest is offset directly against 
retained earnings in equity.

The sale of special-purpose entities (share deals) is reported in the same way as a com-
parable direct sale of real estate (asset deals), as these transactions are an integral com-
ponent of the primary business activities of the ESTAVIS Group. This serves to ensure the 
presentation of a true and fair view of the Group’s net assets, financial position and results 
of operations. The selling price of the shares in the special-purpose entities being sold, 
plus its liabilities and less its receivables, is reported as the proceeds of the sale, while the 
carrying amount of the real estate being sold is reported under cost of materials. For any 
residual interests the cost of acquisition is taken as the net total of the pro rata Group 
carrying amounts in the assets and liabilities leaving the Group as a result of the sale.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits from transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. The same applies to unrealised losses, unless the transaction 
indicates the impairment of the transferred asset. Where necessary, the accounting poli-
cies of subsidiaries have been changed in order to ensure uniform Group-wide accounting.

b) Joint ventures
All of the joint ventures of ESTAVIS AG are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments on the basis of proportionate consolidation. This relates to companies whose 
financial and business policy the Group is able to control, either directly or indirectly, in 
conjunction with a third party. A list of the companies included in the consolidation on the 
basis of proportionate consolidation over which joint management is exercised with other 
companies can be found under 2.2 d.

The information on the accounting treatment of subsidiaries also applies to the accounting 
treatment of joint ventures, with the difference that it only relates to the interest held by 
the Group; the interest attributable to the joint venture partner is not recognised. 

c) Associates  
Associates are companies over which the Group is able to exercise a significant influence 
but which it is not able to control; as a rule, this generally relates to companies in which 
the Group holds an interest of between 20 % and 50 %. These investments are accounted 
for using the equity method. A list of the associates consolidated at equity can be found 
under 2.2 d.
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Investments in associates are initially carried at cost. The Group’s interest in associates 
contains the goodwill arising on acquisition (adjusted for accumulated impairment losses 
as applicable). As a result the carrying amount of the interest changes in equity in line 
with the capital contributions and withdrawals of the Group and through profit and loss 
according to the Group’s share in the profit or loss of associates or, for earnings of as-
sociates recognised directly in equity, directly against the Group’s equity. As soon as the 
Group’s interest in the net loss of an associated company reduces the carrying amount of 
the Group in this company, including other unsecured receivables from the associate, the 
Group does not recognise any additional losses unless it has assumed obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associated company. Earnings are only recognised again when 
the adjustment of the carrying amount results in a positive investment value.

Unrealised profits from transactions between Group companies and associates are elimi-
nated in accordance with the Group’s interest in the associate. The same applies to un-
realised losses, unless the transaction indicates the impairment of the transferred asset. 
Where necessary, the accounting policies of associates have been changed in order to 
ensure uniform Group-wide accounting.

d) Consolidated group
As of 30 June 2009, the consolidated financial statements of ESTAVIS AG included 81 sub-
sidiaries, a joint venture and an associate. The consolidated group changed as follows as 
against 30 June 2008:

In the financial year a further 18 property management companies were added to the 
consolidated group. In addition, a property management company that was included as an 
associate until the end of the first quarter has been fully consolidated since the start of the 
second quarter on account of the acquisition of further shares. One property management 
company was disposed of and therefore left the consolidated group.

The 50.1 % investment in ESTAVIS Property Management GmbH was disposed of as of the 
end of the second quarter (see also the information on discontinued operations in section 
6.25).

The 80.36 % interest in Hamburgische Immobilien Invest SUCV AG was disposed of effec-
tive from the start of the 2009/2010 financial year in June 2009. Thus, the 23 companies 
of the HAG Group will leave the consolidated group as of the start of the next financial year. 
The assets and liabilities of these companies are reported in these consolidated financial 
statements as held for sale. The expenses and income contributed by these companies in 
this financial year and the loss arising on disposal are reported as the result of discontinued 
operations (see also the information in section 6.25). 

The following list shows the companies included in the consolidated group in addition to 
ESTAVIS AG. The disclosures in parentheses provide information on the business activities 
of the respective company. Companies without any such information are special-purpose 
entities. 
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List of equity interests in subsidiaries

Company Domicile Equity interest*

ESTAVIS Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG (interim holding company) Berlin 94 %

 Dritte CRSR Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 ESTAVIS Construction GmbH & Co. KG (construction) Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Erste Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Zweite Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Dritte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Fünfte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Sechste Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Siebente Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Achte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 SIAG Neunte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Elfte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 SIAG Zwölfte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 SIAG Vierzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 SIAG Fünfzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 SIAG Siebzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 SIAG Achtzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

SIAG Neunzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

SIAG Zwanzigste Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

SIAG Einundzwanzigste Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

SIAG Siebenundzwanzigste Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

SIAG Fünfundzwanzigste Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis Immobilienverwaltungs GmbH (general partner) Berlin 94 %

 SIAG Dritte Wohnen Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Berlin 100 %

 Erste SIBA Wohnen GmbH Berlin 100 %

SIAG 28. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

SIAG 29. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 30. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 31. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 26. Property GmbH Berlin 100 %

Until 31 December 2008: Estavis Property Management GmbH 
(property management) Berlin 50.1 %

Estavis 28. Property GmbH Berlin 100 %

Estavis 29. Property GmbH Berlin 100 %

Estavis 30. Property GmbH Berlin 100 %

Estavis 32. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 33. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 34. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 35. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 36. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 37. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 38. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 39. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 40. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 41. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 42. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

Estavis 43. Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

B&V 1. Property GmbH Berlin 100 %
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In accordance with section 264b of the German Commercial Code, the commercial part-
nerships/unincorporated civil law associations listed as subsidiaries above are exempted 
from the preparation, audit and disclosure requirements for corporations with regard to 
the annual financial statements and the management report.

List of equity interests in subsidiaries

Company Domicile Equity interest*

B&V Bauträger- und Vertriebsgesellschaft für Immobilien mbH 
(retail) Berlin 94.8 %

 B&V Dölauer Str. GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

 Estavis 31. Property GmbH Berlin 100 %

 B&V 1. Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 2. Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 3. Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 1. Denkmalschutz GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 2. Denkmalschutz GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 3. Denkmalschutz GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 4. Denkmalschutz GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

 B&V 5. Denkmalschutz GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 100 %

B&V Wohnbaugesellschaft mbH Berlin 100 %

Hamburgische Immobilien Invest SUCV AG (retail) Hamburg 80.36 %

 Hanseatische Immobilienbörse HIB GmbH (broker) Hamburg 100 %

 CWI Real Estate AG (retail) Bayreuth 54.76 %

  CWI Immobilien AG (investment property) Berlin 90.95 %

  CWI Wohnen AG & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

  2. CWI Wohnen AG & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

  3. CWI Wohnen AG & Co. KG Berlin 94 %

  4. CWI Wohnen AG & Co. KG Bayreuth 94.5 %

  5. CWI Wohnen AG & Co. KG Bayreuth 94.5 %

  8. CWI Wohnen GmbH Bayreuth 94 %

  9. CWI Wohnen GmbH Bayreuth 100 %

  10. CWI Wohnen GmbH Bayreuth 100 %

   Zemaitat & Partner 11. Immobilien GbR Berlin 94 %

   Zemaitat & Partner 12. Immobilien GbR Berlin 94 %

   Zemaitat & Partner 13. Immobilien GbR Berlin 94 %

  11. CWI Wohnen GmbH Bayreuth 100 %

  12. CWI Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth 100 %

  14. CWI Wohnen GmbH Bayreuth 100 %

  15. CWI Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth 100 %

  16. CWI Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth 100 %

  Objektges. Leipzig-Taucha, Richard-Bogue-Str. 160 –166
  GmbH Jena 94 %

  CWI Consult GmbH Bayreuth 100 %

         CWI Bau und Boden AG (financial property) Chemnitz 100 %

*  The equity interest describes the percentage interest held by the immediate parent company in each case. The remaining 
 shares in B&V Bauträger- und Vertriebsgesellschaft, 4. CWI, 5. CWI and 8. CWI are held by other Group companies. 
 ESTAVIS AG directly holds an additional 2,33 % interest in CWI Real Estate AG.

(continued from previous page)
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Interests in joint ventures

Company Domicile Equity interest*

SP Center Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Stuttgart 50 %

List of equity interests in associates

Company Domicile Equity interest*

SIAG Sechzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 50 %

* The equity interest describes the percentage interest held by the immediate parent company in each case. 

2.3 Segment reporting
Segment reporting is in line with internal reporting to the ESTAVIS AG Management Board, 
which is the highest management body as defined by IFRS 8 (Management Approach). 
It covers the business segments Portfolio trading, Retail trading, Development, Property 
management and Investment property.
  
2.4 Foreign currency translation

a) Functional currency and reporting currency
ESTAVIS AG prepares its consolidated financial statements in euros (EUR).

The euro is the currency of the primary business environment in which ESTAVIS AG and its 
subsidiaries operate, and is therefore also their functional currency. Transactions in other 
currencies are thus foreign currency transactions.

b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective 
group company using the exchange rates applicable at the transaction date. After initial 
recognition, monetary foreign currency items are translated at the exchange rate at the 
respective balance sheet date.

Currency translation differences resulting from the fulfilment of foreign currency trans-
actions or the translation of monetary foreign currency items at the balance sheet date 
exchange rate are recognised in the income statement as foreign currency gains or losses.

2.5 Investment property
Investment property primarily relates to residential property held on a long-term basis to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation. In contrast to properties held as inventories, active 
resale activities for these properties generally occur only after a longer holding period in 
the context of portfolio realignments. They are recognized at cost at the time of acquisition 
and subsequently at fair value. Changes in fair value are reported separately in the income 
statement.

The fair value of the property is the price at which the property could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm‘s length transaction. The fair value specifically 
excludes an estimated price inflated or deflated by special terms or circumstances such 
as atypical financing, sale and leaseback arrangements, special considerations or conces-
sions granted by anyone associated with the sale.

All investment property in the Group is measured as at the reporting date by independent 
property appraisers. The valuation as of 30 June 2009 was determined by the property 
appraisers based primarily on the expert reports for the previous year. The fair value is de-
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termined by the property appraisers largely in accordance with the income capitalisation 
approach on the basis of the principles of the Valuation Ordinance. The net value is calcu-
lated as the total of the land value and the net value of any construction. In addition, other 
adjusting items must be taken into account, particularly deviations from normal circum-
stances as a result of omitted maintenance work or for construction defects or damages, 
if these have not already been taken into consideration by recognising reduced income or 
a shorter remaining term.

The net value of construction is calculated by multiplying the lettable space by the long-
term net basic rent less any management costs incurred for maintenance, administration 
and taking into account the risk of loss of rent. The net annual income calculated thus is 
divided by a “property yield”, which is calculated taking into account risk-adequate 
comparative rents and the estimated remaining useful life of the building, to produces the 
IAS 40 fair value for the respective property.

2.6 Intangible assets

a) Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair 
value of the net assets of the company being acquired at the acquisition date. It is reported 
as an intangible asset. Any goodwill resulting from the acquisition of an associate is con-
tained in the carrying amount of the interest in the respective associate. Goodwill is tested 
for impairment annually and carried at original cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not amortised.

b) Other intangible assets
This includes purchased software, which is carried at cost and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over its useful life. The useful life for purchased software is three to five years.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment primarily consist of computer hardware, other office equip-
ment and motor vehicles, and is carried at cost less cumulative depreciation and impair-
ment. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis, taking into account the residual 
value and applying the following useful lives:

• Computer hardware  3 years
• Other office equipment 8–13 years
• Motor vehicles 2–3 years

The residual values and remaining useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
adjusted as necessary.

Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised if it is probable that the company will receive 
an economic benefit from the respective expenditure in future. All other repair and mainte-
nance measures are recognised as expenses in the financial year in which they are incurred.

If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, it is written 
down to the latter (see also section 2.8).
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Gains and losses from the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the sales proceeds with the carrying amount, and are reported in the operating 
result.

2.8 Impairment of assets 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are tested for impairment if events 
or indicators suggest that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recov-
erable amount. The latter corresponds to the higher of the net selling price of the asset 
and the discounted net cash flow from its continued use (value in use). In order to deter-
mine impairment, assets are combined at the lowest level to form cash-generating units 
for which cash flows can be identified largely independently from the rest of the company. 
Goodwill impairment is determined at the level of the segment to which the respective 
goodwill is allocated.

If the reasons for impairment no longer apply, impairment losses can be reversed up to a 
maximum of the amortised cost of the respective asset. Goodwill impairment losses may 
not be reversed.

2.9 Financial assets
Financial assets are divided into the following measurement categories: financial assets 
recognised at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
financial assets and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification of financial 
assets depends on the purpose for which they were acquired. The company’s management 
is responsible for determining the classification of financial assets on initial recognition 
and reviewing their classification at each reporting date. In the period under review and the 
prior period, the Group only had financial assets in the categories loans and receivables 
and available-for-sale financial assets.

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
that were voluntarily designated as “at fair value through profit or loss” on acquisition. 
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it was primarily acquired for the purpose 
of being sold in the short term, it forms part of a clearly identifiable portfolio of managed 
financial instruments that has been used to generate short-term gains in the past, or it is a 
derivative not included in a hedging relationship. The company’s management may choose 
to designate other financial assets as “at fair value through profit or loss” if certain condi-
tions are met. Assets belonging to this category are reported under current assets if they 
are held for trading or they are expected to be disposed of within twelve months of the 
balance sheet date.

b) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted on an active market. They arise when the Group directly 
provides a debtor with money, goods or services without intending to use the correspond-
ing receivables for trading purposes. Loans and receivables are classified as current assets 
if they have a maturity of twelve months or less from the balance sheet date; otherwise, 
they are reported under non-current assets. Loans and receivables are reported in the 
balance sheet under other financial assets, trade receivables and other receivables.
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c) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have been allocated 
to this category or that cannot be allocated to any of the other categories. They are reported 
under non-current assets if the company’s management does not intend to dispose of them 
within twelve months of the balance sheet date.

2.10 Available-for-sale financial assets 
On initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value plus the 
transaction costs incurred. At subsequent reporting dates, they are carried at fair value, 
which corresponds to their market price. The difference between this amount and the 
carrying amount on initial recognition is taken directly to the revaluation reserve in equity. 
When available-for-sale financial assets are sold or an impairment loss is recognised on 
such assets, any unrealised gains on fair value measurement contained in equity are 
reclassified and recognised in the income statement.

At each balance sheet date, ESTAVIS AG examines whether there is any objective evidence 
of impairment. If such evidence exists, any accumulated losses previously recognised 
directly in equity are reclassified and recognised as an expense in the income statement.

If there is no active market for an available-for-sale financial asset, particularly in the case 
of investments in property companies, they are measured at the lower of cost or fair value 
in the event of impairment. Impairment is recognised in income. Reversals of impairment 
are not recognised.

2.11 Inventories 
The inventories of the ESTAVIS Group consist of property acquired for resale. They are 
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost includes the purchase price 
for the respective properties plus directly attributable expenses, such as brokerage fees, 
real property transfer taxes, notaries’ fees and land register costs. Production costs are 
incurred if and to the extent that restoration work is performed on a property prior to its 
disposal. Production costs include the directly attributable cost of materials and wages, 
as well as the cost of purchased services. The overheads attributable to construction are 
also included in the cost of inventories. Interest on debt capital is not included in the cost. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.12 Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are initially carried at their fair value. Subsequent to initial measure-
ment, they are carried at amortised cost calculated in accordance with the effective inter-
est method, less any write-downs. Trade receivables are written down if there is objective 
evidence that the amounts due may not be collectable in full. The amount of the write-
down recognised is the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows from the receivable discounted using the 
effective interest method. Write-downs are recognised in income. If the reasons for a write-
down no longer apply, either in full or in part, the write-down is reversed up to a maximum 
of the amortised cost of the receivable and the amount of the reversal is recognised in 
income.
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2.13 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost. For the purposes of the cash flow state-
ment, cash and cash equivalents are composed of cash, demand deposits held at banks, 
and other short-term, highly liquid investments with an original term of no more than three 
months.

2.14 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the company has a current legal or constructive obligation 
based on events in the past, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the 
company expects the reimbursement of an amount for which a provision has been 
recognised (e. g. under an insurance policy), it must record the right to reimbursement as 
a separate asset providing that reimbursement is effectively guaranteed in the event of a 
claim being asserted on the respective obligation.

The company recognises provisions for onerous contracts if the unavoidable costs of meet-
ing the obligation under the respective contract are greater than the expected benefits 
from the contractual claim.

Provisions are measured at the amount of the probable outflow of resources. The measure-
ment of non-current provisions includes discounting using a risk-adequate interest rate.

2.15 Financial liabilities 
On first-time recognition, financial liabilities (not including derivatives) are carried at fair 
value less transaction costs. In subsequent periods, they are carried at amortised cost. 
Any differences between the amount disbursed (less transaction costs) and the settlement 
amount are recognised in income over the term of the respective liability in accordance 
with the effective interest method.

In both first-time and subsequent measurement, derivatives are carried at fair value. 
Changes in value are recognised in income.

Financial liabilities are classified as current if the Group does not have the unconditional 
right to settle the liability at a date that is more than twelve months after the balance sheet 
date.

2.16 Pension obligations
One Group company has a defined benefit pension plan, the performance risk for which 
ultimately lies with that Group company. The plan is reinsured by way of payments to insur-
ance companies.

The provision recognised in the balance sheet corresponds to the present value of the obli-
gation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the reinsurance claim. The obligation 
is calculated annually by an independent actuary in accordance with the projected unit 
credit method using biometric principles and taking into account future forecast pension 
increases. The present value of the obligation is calculated by discounting the expected 
future cash outflows at the discount rate for high-quality corporate bonds with the same 
term as the obligation.

Actuarial gains and losses relating to adjustments and changes to actuarial assumptions 
are recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2.17 Deferred taxes 
Deferred taxes are recognised in accordance with the liability method for temporary differ-
ences between the tax base and the IFRS carrying amount of assets and liabilities, as well 
as for unused tax loss carryforwards. As a matter of principle, deferred taxes are calculated 
by applying the tax base that is expected to be in place when the temporary difference is 
reversed in accordance with the information available at the current balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable in-
come will be available against which temporary differences or tax loss carryforwards can be 
utilised.

Changes in deferred tax items are recognised in income. Exceptions to this are the addition 
in equity of deferred tax items as part of the purchase price allocation of company acquisi-
tions and deferred tax items in connection with changes in value recognised directly against 
reserves, which are also recognised directly against reserves.

2.18 Revenue recognition 
Revenues are composed of the amounts invoiced for the sale of properties. Revenue from 
the sale of a property is recognised when substantially all the risks and rewards incident 
to ownership of the respective property are transferred to the buyer. This is generally the 
case when the possession, benefits, burdens and risks associated with the property are 
transferred. In the case of the sale of special-purpose entities, this date is generally the 
date on which the transfer of the shares in the respective entity is completed.

If renovation work is still in progress at the date on which the property is sold and this 
renovation work is negligible compared to the volume of the transaction as a whole, the 
company recognises a provision for the additional costs that are expected to be incurred. 
In the case of more comprehensive renovation work, the portion of revenue attributable 
to renovation is recognised as construction progresses. In the case of renovation work 
before transferring property to the buyer, the entire proceeds are only recognised once the 
property has been transferred.

Components of the consideration that depend on the fulfilment of agreed minimum rental 
income from the sold properties are recognised only when these conditions are met in full. 

Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the 
underlying contracts. Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue, 
while rental income from properties carried in the trading portfolio is reported under other 
operating income. The incidental expenses invoiced to tenants is offset against the 
corresponding expenses as the allocable expenses are considered to have been advanced 
in the interests of the tenants.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into account the out-
standing liability and the effective yield over the remaining term.

2.19 Brokerage commission 
Commission for brokering an actual business contract is recognised by the Group as an 
expense when the brokered transaction is fulfilled. Any commission paid before this time 
is reported under other receivables.
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2.20 Leases 
The Group acts as a lessee.

Leases under which the Group companies bear the substantial risks and rewards of own-
ership of the leased property are classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance 
leases are capitalised at the start of the lease term at the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. At the same time, a lease liability in the 
same amount is recognised under non-current financial liabilities. The portion of the lease 
liability that is due within twelve months of the balance sheet date is reported under cur-
rent financial liabilities. Each lease instalment is then divided into the finance charge and 
the reduction of the outstanding liability in order to ensure a constant periodic return on 
the outstanding lease liability. The finance charge is recognised in the income statement 
as interest expense. Items of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are 
depreciated over their useful life, which may be limited by the lease term, taking into 
account any residual value.

Some of the finance leases entered into by the ESTAVIS Group for office furniture and 
IT equipment contain residual value guarantees. No purchase or lease extension options 
have been agreed.

Leases not classified as finance leases are classified as operating leases. The company 
has entered into operating leases for motor vehicles, some of its office equipment, and 
business premises. These leases do not contain purchase options. Leases for office space 
contain extension options at standard market conditions. Payments made in connection 
with operating leases (less incentive payments by the lessor) are recognised in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

The Group acts as a lessor in connection with the leasing of properties held as inventories 
or investment property. These agreements are classified as operating leases. For informa-
tion on the accounting treatment of rental income, see section 2.18.

2.21 Residual interests and dividend distributions 
The Group holds equity interests in a large number of partnerships in which minorities also 
hold an interest. In accordance with IAS 32, the shareholder position in a partnership is 
generally required to be recognised as a liability on account of the termination rights of the 
limited partners. From the Group’s perspective, this applies to minority interests in subsidi-
aries with the legal form of a partnership. When these liabilities arise, they are measured 
at the present value of the partner’s compensation claim. This is generally the amount of 
the partner’s capital contribution. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability is adjusted 
depending on the company’s results prior to the recognition of the change in the respective 
liability. The change in the liability is recognised in the income statement unless it is based 
on capital contributions and withdrawals. If the adjustment results in a theoretical claim on 
behalf of the partner, it must be suspended until it would result in a liability against the part-
ner again. Only residual values resulting from a negative shareholder position or a reserve for 
available-for-sale securities are recognised in equity.  

For corporations within the Group, liabilities for distributions to shareholders are only recog-
nised in the period in which the corresponding resolution on the appropriation of net retained 
profits is adopted by the shareholders’ meeting.



Consolidated Financial 
Statements

73

NOTES

Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

3 CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
 
Using its capital management, ESTAVIS AG pursues the goal of sustainably strengthening the 
Group’s liquidity and equity basis, providing funds for the Group’s equity-financed growth 
and generating an appropriate return on capital employed. In the context of the ESTAVIS 
Group’s property activities, as far as possible purchasing volumes are financed by debt 
capital in line with tax consideration on account of the continuing relatively favourable 
refinancing situation. The Group’s accounting equity acts as a passive control criterion. 
The active control variables are revenues, gross margin and EBIT.

Financial risk management describes the management and limitation of the financial risks 
resulting from the Group’s operating activities. Particular risks are the liquidity risk (avoid-
ing disruptions to solvency) and risk of default (risk of a loss when a contractual party does 
not meet its contractual obligations).

Responsibility for liquidity risk management lies with the Management Board, which has 
established an appropriate system for controlling short, medium and long-term finance 
and liquidity requirements. The Group controls liquidity risks by maintaining appropriate 
liquid funds, lines of credit at banks and other facilities as well as constant monitoring of 
forecast and actual cash flows as part of ongoing, rolling liquidity controlling and by coor-
dinating the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group also reduces its 
liquidity risks including a right to rescind for the Group in purchase agreements for inven-
tory property in the event that the purchase cannot be refinanced.

In order to avoid risks of default, the Group only enters into sales relationships with parties 
of good credit standing. To further limit default risk, ownership of sold properties is only 
transferred to the buyer after the purchase price has been paid into a notary trust account.

Interest rate risks do not play a significant role on account of the overwhelmingly short-term 
nature of borrowing (generally one to two years). The Group only held a limited volume of 
derivative financial instruments for interest rate hedging purposes during the financial year.

  

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 

 ASSUMPTIONS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the company uses estimates and 
assumptions about expected future developments on the basis of conditions on the balance 
sheet date. Inevitably, it is rare for the estimates derived on this basis to correspond 
precisely to the actual future circumstances.

Estimates are required to be made in particular for the recognition of current and deferred 
taxes. There is a degree of uncertainty regarding the interpretation of complex tax 
legislation. Accordingly, differences between actual results and our assumptions or future 
changes in our estimates may lead to changes in tax results in future periods. The Group 
has taken account of the potential effects of external tax audits by the taxation authorities 
to a reasonable extent.
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The income capitalisation approach used in estimating the fair value of investment prop-
erty requires the use of estimate ranges for expected rental income and the necessary 
maintenance expenses in particular, as well as for the risk-bearing market interest rates to 
be applied to the respective properties. 
 
In estimating the net selling prices of properties held as inventories, there is a particular 
degree of uncertainty with regard to the determination of the estimated selling price.

Impairment testing for the goodwill that is allocated to the Retail trading segment requires 
the use of estimate ranges in respect of future revenues and trading margins in particular.

Ranges of estimates are also used when assessing the relative values of the discontinued 
and continuing elements of the retail trading segment, and hence the amount of goodwill 
derecognised and still recognised by the Company.

5 SEGMENT REPORTING
 
The ESTAVIS Group is divided into the following segments:

1. Portfolio trading: The purchase and sale of property in the context of portfolio trading, 
in which generally large portfolios of property are sold to investors. This includes the 
Group’s construction activities, which merely constitute a secondary function of this 
segment.

2. Sale of properties to private investors: The purchase and sale of property for retail 
 trading, in which generally individual apartments are sold to investors. Some of this 
 segment will be discontinued at the start of the next financial year on account of the 
 sale of shares in the HAG Group (see also section 6.25).
3. Development: This segment develops properties with the intention of selling them at 
 a later date. 
4. Property management: This segment offers property management services for 
 portfolio customers in particular and third parties. This segment was discontinued in 
 the course of the year by way of disposal.
5. Investment property: Holding properties for investment purposes. This segment will 
 be discontinued at the start of the next financial year on account of the sale of 
 shares in the HAG Group.

The Group only deals in property located in Germany. There is therefore no need for any 
geographical segmentation.
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The segment results for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 are shown below.

At TEUR 15,031, the segment result in Portfolio trading was reduced by write-downs on 
property held as inventories.

Taking into account the differences between continued and discontinued operations, the 
segment results of the previous year are as follows:

continued operations discontinued operations

Portfolio 
trading

Retail 
trading

Develop-
ment

Consoli-
dation

Group Retail 
trading 
(HAG)

Invest-
ment 

property

Property
manage-

ment

Group

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Revenues 
(external only) 8,203 62,124 – – 70,372 9,527 762 522 10,811

Revenues 
(internal only) 396 – – –14 382 452 – 145 597

Segment result –25,908 2,498 63 – –23,347 –3,337 –1,191 –1,306 –5,834

Unallocated – –80 –

Impairment loss 
from assets held 
for sale – – –11,915

Operating result – –23,427 –17,749

Net income from 
investments carried 
at-equity 19 – – – 19 8 8

Financial result – –4,882 –1,748

Pre-tax profit – –28,289 –19,489

continued operations discontinued operations

Portfolio-
trading

Retail-
trading

Develop-
ment

Consoli-
dation

Group Retail-
trading 
(HAG)

Invest-
ment 

property

Property
manage-

ment

Group

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Revenues 
(external only) 75,589 44,619 – – 120,208 25,721 948 574 27,243

Revenues 
(internal only) – – – – – – – 97 97

Segment result –4,111 40 –201 – –4,272 –25 –985 –1,244 –2,254

Unallocated – –191 – –

Currency gains – – – 16

Operating result – –4,463 – –2,238

Net income from 
investments carried 
at-equity 29 – – – 29 –82 –82

Financial result – –1,822 –1,908

Pre-tax profit – –6,256 –4,228
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The unallocated costs relate to the write-down on a portfolio of securities in the financial 
year and the previous year.

The company has generated the revenues as shown below with major customers account-
ing for more than 10% of total consolidated revenues:

Financial year 2008/2009
None

Financial year 2006/2007
Major customer (1) with revenues of TEUR 74,132

The revenues related to the Portfolio trading segment and, to a smaller extent, to the Retail 
trading segment.

Depreciation and write-downs of property, plant and equipment and amortisation and 
write-downs of intangible assets were attributable to the segments as follows in the finan-
cial year:

The segment breakdown for the previous year was as follows:

continued operations discontinued operations

Portfolio 
trading

Retail 
trading

Develop-
ment

Group Retail 
trading 
(HAG)

Investment 
property

Property
manage-

ment

Group

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Depreciation and write-
downs of property, plant 
and equipment 108 13 – 121 64 – 58 122

Depreciation and write-
downs of intangible assets 14 0 – 14 16 – 11 27

Changes in value of invest-
ment property – – – – – –1,249 – –

continued operations discontinued operations

Portfolio 
trading

Retail 
trading

Develop-
ment

Group Retail 
trading 
(HAG)

Investment 
property

Property
manage-

ment

Group

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Depreciation and write-
downs of property, plant 
and equipment 120 9 – 129 72 – 85 157

Depreciation and write-
downs of intangible assets 11 0 – 11 8 – 7 15

Changes in value of invest-
ment property – – – – – –1,345 – –
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Segment assets, segment liabilities and segment investments were as follows as of 30 
June 2009:

Portfolio
trading

Retail
trading

Property 
manage-

ment

Invest-
ment 

property

Develop-
ment

Unallo-
cated

Consoli-
dation

Group

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Segment 
assets 84,063 62,331 0 0 3,197 17,700 –7,083 160,208

Segment as-
sets held for 
sale (HAG) – 27,847 0 9,555 – 9,724 –97 47,029

Investments 
carried at 
equity 50 0 – – – – – 50

Total seg-
ment assets 84,113 90,178 0 9,555 3,197 27,424 –7,180 207,287

Segment 
liabilities 30,831 11,408 0 0 7 79,675 –7,151 114,770

Segment 
liabilities held 
for sale (HAG) – 2,731 – 120 – 40,616 –29 43,437

Segment 
liabilities 30,831 14,138 0 120 7 120,291 –7,180 158,207

Segment 
investments 61 42 329 768 – – – 1,200

The figures for the previous year are as follows:

Portfolio
trading

Retail
trading

Property 
manage-

ment

Invest-
ment 

property

Develop-
ment

Unallo-
cated

Consoli-
dation

Group

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Segment 
assets 97,541 105,986 781 13,327 691 31,428 –14 249,740

Investments 
carried at 
equity 32 0 – – – – – 32

Total segment 
assets 97,573 105,989 781 13,327 691 31,428 –14 249,772

Segment 
liabilities 36,378 7,028 438 127 14 110,465 –14 154,436

Segment 
investments 312 9,305 365 227 – – – 10,209

Segment assets primarily relate to property, plant and equipment, investment property, 
inventories and receivables. Goodwill is allocated to the Retail trading segment. This does 
not include cash and cash equivalents, tax receivables or financial assets. 

Segment liabilities relate to operating liabilities. This does not include tax liabilities or 
financial liabilities. 
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Segment investments include additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets (see section 6.3) and investment property, in each case including items resulting 
from company acquisitions. The investment in goodwill in the acquisition of the B&V Group 
amounted to TEUR 9,089 in the previous year.

6 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES TO THE INDIVIDUAL ITEMS 

 OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.1 Intangible assets
The table under section 6.3 shows the changes in intangible assets over the last two years. 
In connection with the forthcoming sale of shares in the HAG Group, some goodwill was 
reclassified to assets held for sale and written down in full (see section 6.25).

The remaining goodwill has been assigned to the Retail trading segment for the purposes 
of impairment testing. The recoverable amount is determined by calculating the segment’s 
value in use. The calculation is based on forecast cash flows derived from the three-year 
planning prepared by the management board.

For reasons of simplification, no growth in cash flows is assumed after this three-year 
period.

The company’s management board determined the budgeted cash flow for the detailed 
planning phase on the basis of past events and expectations of future market develop-
ments.

The discount rate of 10.3 % is a pre-tax interest rate that reflects the specific risks to which 
the segment is exposed. Impairment testing showed that no impairment losses were 
required for the remaining goodwill.

6.2 Property, plant and equipment
The table under section 6.3 shows the changes in non-current assets over the last two 
years.

The carrying amounts of operating and office equipment include TEUR 14 (previous year: 
TEUR 28) relating to assets for which the Group is the lessee under a finance lease (for 
information on lease liabilities, see section 6.11). These assets are legally owned by the 
lessor.

The Group has concluded operating leases for office space, motor vehicles and business 
equipment. Lease expenses for continuing operations are recognised in the income state-
ment in the amount of TEUR 546 (previous year: TEUR 400).
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6.3 Statement of changes in non-current assets
for the financial year from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009:

Goodwill Other 
intangible 

assets

Property, 
plant and 

equipment

Non-current 
assets held 

for sale (HAG)

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

As of 1 July 2008

Cost 20,581 178 1,792 –

Cumulative depreciation, amortisation 
and write-downs – 36 679 –

Carrying amounts as of 1 July 2008 20,581 141 1,113 –

Disposal Property management (-) – –95 –438 –

Additions (+) – 38 394 –

Disposals (–) – – –46 –

Depreciation, amortisation and 
write-downs (–) –42 –243 –3,125

Reclassification as assets held for sale –2,806 –25 –294 3,125

Carrying amounts of 30 June 2009 17,776 18 485 0

As of 30 June 2009

Cost 17,776 44 852 3,472

Cumulative depreciation, amortisation 
and write-downs – 26 366 3,472

for the financial year from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008:

Goodwill Other intangible 
assets

Property, plant 
and equipment

TEUR TEUR TEUR

As of 1 July 2007

Cost 11,492 56 893

Cumulative depreciation, amortisation 
and write-downs – 6 119

Carrying amounts as of 1 July 2007 11,492 50 775

Addition for acquisition of B&V-Group (+) 9,089 – 145

Additions (+) – 118 630

Disposals (–) – – –152

Depreciation, amortisation and 
write-downs (–) – –27 –285

Carrying amounts of 30 June 2008 20,581 141 1,113

As of 30 June 2008

Cost 20,581 178 1,792

Cumulative depreciation, amortisation 
and write-downs – 36 679
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6.4 Investment property
Investment property developed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Start of financial year 12,840 16,939

Additions – –

Restructuring 768 227

Disposals –593 – 2,981

Reversals of write-downs 136 117

Write-downs –1,385 – 1,462

Reclassification as asset held for sale –11,767 –

End of financial year 0 12,840

The entire Investment property segment will be sold under the forthcoming disposal of the 
Group’s shares in the HAG Group. Investment property is therefore included in assets held 
for sale. As part of the allocation of the write-down required for the total assets being lost, 
investment property was written down by TEUR 2,242 to TEUR 9,525 (see section 6.25).

Carrying amounts of TEUR 9,525 of investment property are encumbered with land charges 
as collateral for liabilities to banks. The fair values of the investment property were calcu-
lated by the property appraiser as totalling TEUR 11,767 as of the balance sheet date based 
mainly on the expert opinions for the previous year. If the underlying interest rate for this 
calculation had been 0.5 percentage points higher, the total fair value at the balance sheet 
date would have been TEUR 10,936. By contrast, if the interest rate had been 0.5 percentage 
points lower, the total fair value would have been TEUR 12,772.

In addition to changes due to fair value measurement at the balance sheet date, the income 
statement contains the following items relating to investment property:

Income and expenses from investment property

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Rental income (revenues) 762 948

Cost of materials –116 –162

Administrative expenses –623 –481

TEUR 40 of these expenses (previous year: TEUR 42) relate to vacancies in investment 
property.
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6.5 Investments in associates
Investments in associates developed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Start of financial year 32 917

Disposals –8 –

Distributions –850

Shares in gains and losses 26 –53

Loss offsetting with receivable 18

End of financial year 50 32

A company previously included as an associate became a subsidiary by way of the pur-
chase of a majority (purchase price 81 TEUR). The shares of the ESTAVIS Group in the 
remaining associated company that is not listed and that has since fulfilled its essential 
business purpose and is now being wound down are as follows:

Equity 
interest

Assets Liabilities Income Net profit

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

SIAG Sechzehnte Wohnen
GmbH & Co. KG 50 % 4,893 4,843 19 19

6.6 Other non-current financial assets
The other financial assets reported by the company can be broken down as follows:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Available-for-sale securities 44 155

Other non-current financial assets 149 97

Total 193 252

 
The available for sale securities are listed shares. A write-down of TEUR 80 (previous year: 
TEUR 191) was recognised on share holdings in the financial year. This expense is included 
in other operating expenses. A subsequent reversal of TEUR 16 was recognised directly in 
equity via a reserve.

The other non-current financial assets essentially include other investments. As their fair 
value cannot be reliably estimated these investments are carried at cost. The purchase 
price for an investment sold that has been deferred for an extended period is also included 
here.
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6.7 Inventories 
The company’s inventories include properties and advanced payments for properties. They 
developed as follows in the past financial year:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Properties 62,345 81,737

Construction work in progress 18,380 19,496

Advanced payments 1 2,470

Total 80,727 103,703

Properties are carried at cost, including accrued renovation costs. Write-downs of TEUR 
15,139 were required in the period under review (previous year: none). These write-downs 
are reported under cost of materials. The properties reported as inventories serve as col-
lateral for financial liabilities.

6.8 Trade receivables and other receivables 
Trade receivables primarily relate to the sale of properties. The development of trade 
receivables is shown in the following table:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Trade receivables 3,368 27,611

Write-downs/derecognition –1,413 –7

Trade receivables (net) 1,955 27,604

The following trade receivables were overdue as at 30 June 2009:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Trade receivables 1,955 27,604

Of which neither impaired as of the reporting date nor overdue 1,104 27,121

Of which not impaired as of the reporting date and overdue by up 
to 30 days 67 0

Of which not impaired as of the reporting date and overdue by 
between 31 and 60 days 183 0

Of which not impaired as of the reporting date and overdue by 
between 61 and 90 days 263 108

Of which not impaired as of the reporting date and overdue by 
between 91 and 180 days 136 224

Of which not impaired as of the reporting date and overdue by 
between 181 and 360 days 63 125

Of which not impaired as of the reporting date and overdue by 
more than 360 days 139 25
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Write-downs of trade receivables have developed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

Total Specific 
allowances

Total Specific 
allowances

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

As of 1 July 7 0 0 0

Change in consolidated group 0 – 7 –

Additions (write-downs) 1,406 1,401 – –

Reversal – – – –

Derecognition 0 0 – –

As of 30 June 1,413 1,401 7 0

Other receivables largely include receivables from advance commission payments on un-
realised retail sales and receivables from investment companies for short-term loans and 
settlement accounts. This item also includes receivables from related parties (see section 
6.27) of TEUR 489 (previous year: TEUR 1,310).

6.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are primarily composed of demand deposits with banks and a 
small amount of cash.

6.10 Equity 
As of the balance sheet date, the issued capital of ESTAVIS AG was EUR 8,099,427. 
8,099,427 fully paid in shares with a nominal value of EUR 1 each have been issued. 

The capital reserves result from amounts paid in the past in capital increases exceeding 
the amount of issued capital. TEUR 32,843 was withdrawn from the capital reserves to 
cover the cumulative loss that ESTVIS AG would otherwise have incurred. This amount 
increases the retained earnings.

The capital reserves result from amounts paid in the past in capital increases exceeding 
the amount of issued capital.

The retained earnings result from the Group’s earnings up to the balance sheet date that 
have not yet been distributed.

The minority interests reflect the net assets of the Group relating to the other shareholders 
in subsidiaries.

The composition of and changes in equity are shown in the statement of changes in equity.
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6.11 Financial liabilities  
The following table shows the company’s current and non-current financial liabilities:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Non-current financial liabilities

Other shareholder capital attributable to minority interests 16 99

Liabilities to banks and other lenders 566 16,402

Finance lease liabilities 6 16

Total non-current financial liabilities 588 16,517

Current financial liabilities

Current portion of liabilities to banks and other lenders 67,908 84,265

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 10 16

Total current financial liabilities 67,918 84,281

 
The carrying amount of non-current financial liabilities to banks and other lenders can be 
broken down into liabilities with a remaining term of between one and five years (TEUR 
566; previous year: TEUR 10,176) and liabilities with a remaining term of more than five 
years (TEUR 0; previous year: TEUR 6,341).

Liabilities to banks are secured by the properties for which they were incurred.

The interest rates for non-current liabilities to banks with a fixed interest rate amounted to 
between 4.9 % and 8.3 % (previous year: between 4.9 % and 9.0 %). In addition, the company 
entered into short-term financing arrangements under master agreements with interest 
rates of between 1.25 % and 2.5 %, corresponding to short-term Euribor or Eonia plus 
margins. This resulted in interest rates of between 2.8 % and 7.1 % (previous year: between 
5.64 % and 6.77 %).

All loans are denominated in euro.



Consolidated Financial 
Statements

85

NOTES

Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

The company’s total liabilities from finance leases are based on the following minimum 
lease payments:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Up to 1 year

Total minimum lease payments 11 17

Finance charge 1 1

Present value of minimum lease payments 10 17

Between 1 and 5 years

Total minimum lease payments 6 17

Finance charge 1 2

Present value of minimum lease payments 6 15

Total

Total minimum lease payments 17 34

Finance charge 1 3

Present value of minimum lease payments 16 31

As in the previous year, the interest rate for lease liabilities was between 8.2 % and 10.1 %.

6.12 Provisions 
Provisions developed as follows in the financial year:

Outstanding 
construction 

work

Rental 
guarantees

Other Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

July 1, 2008 1,087 2,629 1,128 4,844

Utilisation –740 –2,342 –44 –3,126

Reversal –2 –68 –188 –258

Addition 378 2,559 702 3,639

Reclassification as liabilities 
held for sale –147 –147

June 30, 2009 724 2,778 1,451 4,952

The provision for outstanding construction work includes the expected cost of the con-
struction work to be performed after the possession, benefits, expenses and risks incident 
to ownership of the respective property are transferred to the buyer provided that this is 
not offset by any further proceeds. The provision is current.

The provision for rent guarantees covers obligations of the Group for minimum rental in-
come promised to the purchasers of property for specific periods. Some of this provision 
in the previous year was non-current (TEUR 224). 

The other provisions include a provision for uncertain obligations of TEUR 179 for ESTAVIS 
AG arising from profit transfer agreements by its legal predecessor (IMMCON GmbH) with 
its former subsidiaries. The time at which this will be transferred is uncertain. It has been 
reported as current. 
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In the previous year, other provisions also included a (non-current) provision for a pension 
obligation of TEUR 131. As of the balance sheet date, this is included in liabilities held 
for sale in the amount of TEUR 89. The pension provision relates to a retirement benefit 
obligation to the Management Board of a subsidiary. The obligation consists of a monthly 
pension from the age of 65 onwards, an invalidity pension and a surviving dependents‘ 
pension. The obligation will increase by 3 % p. a. until the pension is claimed for the first 
time. The company has concluded a reinsurance policy for the corresponding claims. The 
expected return of the plan assets amounts to 4.0 %.

The pension provision developed as follows in the past financial year:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Present value of pension obligation 314 339

Fair value of reinsurance claim 225 208

Pension provision 89 131

As of June 30, 2007 the present value of pension obligation was TEUR 350 and the fair 
value of the reinsurance claim was TEUR 191.

The present value of the obligation developed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/ 2008

TEUR TEUR

Start of financial year 339 350

Pension expense 24 26

Interest cost 20 19

Payments made – –

Actuarial gains –69 –56

End of financial year 314 339

The fair value of the reinsurance claim developed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/ 2008

TEUR TEUR

Start of financial year 208 191

Contribution to insurance policy 8 9

Income from insurance policy 9 8

Payments made – –

End of financial year 225 208
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The following amounts are reported in the income statement (result from discontinued 
activities; previous year under staff costs):

2008/2009 2007/ 2008

TEUR TEUR

Current service cost –24 –26

Interest cost –20 –18

Income from insurance policy 9 8

Actuarial gains 69 56

Pension expense (income) 33 20

The following actuarial assumptions were applied:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

Discount rate 7.0 % 6.0 %

Projected pension increase 1.5 % 1.5 %

Biometric probabilities were based on the 2005G mortality tables published by Dr. Klaus 
Heubeck.

6.13 Trade payables and other liabilities 
The company had the following liabilities at the respective reporting dates:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Trade payables 6,214 5,297

Liabilities to related parties (sec. 6.27) 3,742 1,342

Miscellaneous other liabilities 21,844 21,432

Total 31,800 28,071

The miscellaneous other liabilities primarily include liabilities to investment companies for 
short-term loans and settlement accounts. 

6.14 Deferred taxes
The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the company have the following ex-
pected realisation dates:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Deferred tax assets

expected to be realised after more than 12 months 2,909 1,797

expected to be realised within 12 months 809 1,887

Total 3,718 3,684

Deferred tax liabilities

expected to be realised after more than 12 months 4,179 3,782

expected to be realised within 12 months 74 1,456

Total 4,254 5,238
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Deferred taxes developed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Deferred tax liabilities –5,238 –2,666

Deferred tax assets 3,684 1,668

Balance of deferred taxes at start of financial year –1,554 –998

Expense (–)/income (+) reported in income statement 1,063 3,334

Expense (–)/income (+) reported in income statement due 
to changes in tax rates 0 522

Other amounts recognised directly in equity 0 2

Additions due to acquisition of B&V Group (previous year) – –4,415

Disposals due to change in consolidated group –491 –

Reclassification as assets/liabilities held for sale 447 –

Balance of deferred taxes at end of financial year –536 –1,554

Deferred tax liabilities –4,254 –5,238

Deferred tax assets 3,718 3,684

The changes in deferred tax liabilities in the past two years were due to the following 
factors:

Differences 
relating to 

investment 
property

Differences 
relating to 

property held 
as inventories

Differences 
relating 
to other 

receivables

Differences 
relating 

to other items

Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

July 1, 2007 1,303 1,140 – 223 2,666

Amounts recognised in 
income –458 –5,942 2,764 73 –3,563

Addition due to acquisition 
of B&V Group – 6,137 – – 6,137

Disposal for deferred taxes 
on available-for-sale securi-
ties recognised directly in 
equity – – – –2 –2

June 30, 2008 845 1,335 2,764 294 5,238

Amounts recognised in 
income –353 –1,159 1,411 –102 –203

Disposal for deferred 
taxes on available-for-sale 
securities recognised 
directly in equity – – – 0 –

Reclassification as liabilities 
held for sale –492 –125 – –164 –781

June 30, 2009 0 51 4,175 28 4,254
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The deferred taxes from differences in inventory assets essentially result from the initial 
measurement of inventories from the acquisition of the HAG Group in the 2006/2007 
financial year and the acquisition of the B&V in the previous year. Deferred taxes from dif-
ferences in other receivables result from the capitalization of brokerage commission for 
trading revenues not yet realized.  

The changes in deferred tax assets were due to the following factors:

Tax loss 
carryforward

Other Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR

July 1, 2007 1,383 285 1,668

Amounts recognised in income 425 –131 294

Addition due to acquisition of B&V Group 1,480 242 1,722

Disposal due to change in consolidated group – – –

June 30, 2008 3,288 396 3,684

Amounts recognised in income 693 168 861

Disposal due to change in consolidated group –491 – –491

Reclassification as assets held for sale –216 –119 –335

June 30, 2009 3,273 445 3,718

Deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards are carried at the amount of future 
taxable profit that is expected to be required to realise the corresponding tax benefits. 
The deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards relate to the parent company and a 
number of subsidiaries. Based on its forecasts, the company expects to be able to utilise 
a portion of the available tax loss carryforwards in the 2009/2010/2011 financial years. 
No deferred tax assets were recognised for some existing trade tax loss carryforwards in 
the amount of TEUR 33,684 (previous year: TEUR 4,935) or existing corporation tax loss 
carryforwards in the amount of TEUR 21,353 (previous year: TEUR 128) as these are no 
longer expected to be realised.

No deferred tax liabilities were recognised on outside basis differences in the amount of 
TEUR 323 (previous year: TEUR 1,235) as the Group controls the reversal of the difference 
and does not intend to do this in the foreseeable future.

6.15 Revenues

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Property trading 70,310 119,636

Rental income from investment property – –

Other revenues 400 572

Total 70,710 120,209

The figures for all items of the income statement relate to continuing operations. Please 
see section 6.25 for the results of discontinued operations.
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6.16 Cost of materials 
The cost of materials primarily relates to the carrying amounts of the properties sold in 
the respective periods and the cost of construction work. This also includes purchased 
services. In this period it also includes write-downs on property held as inventories in the 
amount of TEUR 15,139.

6.17 Staff costs 
The Group employed an average of 69 people over the year (previous year: 88). 42 of these 
employees work in continuing operations (previous year: 47). The staff costs incurred by 
the Group are composed as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Salaries and other benefits 2,906 2,884

Employer contributions to statutory social insurance 291 366

Total 3,196 3,250

Employer contributions to statutory social insurance included contributions to statutory 
pension insurance in the amount of TEUR 144 (previous year: TEUR 160).

6.18 Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income can be broken down as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Rental income from properties held as inventories 5,613 2,471

Miscellaneous other operating income 1,376 1,513

Total 6,989 3,984

Other operating expenses can be broken down as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Consulting costs 2,439 2,595

Sales costs 15,640 1,314

Costs relating to rental guarantees 5,185 4,689

Miscellaneous other operating expenses 11,205 7,241

Total 34,468 15,839

Miscellaneous other operating expenses include a write-down on securities of TEUR 80 
(previous year: TEUR 191) and a write-down on receivables of TEUR 2,919 (previous year: 
TEUR 132).
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6.19 Minority interests
Interest income includes TEUR 66 (previous year: TEUR 57) of losses relating to other 
shareholder capital (minority interests in subsidiaries with the legal form of limited 
partnerships). Interest expenses include TEUR 0 (previous year: TEUR 0) of profit shares 
relating to other shareholder capital.

6.20 Income tax expense
The income tax expense reported in the income statement consists of current and deferred 
taxes as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Current income tax expense 54 –520

Deferred income tax expense –415 –2,128

Total –361 –2,648

The reported tax expense differs from the theoretical amount calculated by applying the 
company’s average income tax rate to its earnings before taxes:

Tax reconciliation

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Pre-tax profit –28,289 –6,256

Taxes calculated on the basis of the parent’s income tax rate –8,536 –1,888

Effect of:

 Differences in tax rates 2 –25

 Change in tax rates 26 –533

 Non-deductible or partially deductible expenses 19 108

 Additions and deductions for trade tax purposes 259 118

 Tax loss carry forwards not recognised 5,986 91

 Taxes for previous years

  Original taxes –91 –828

  Utilisation/reporting of previously unreported loss carry  
  forwards –36 –110

  Discontinuation of previously reported loss carry forwards 1,971 330

 Other factors 39 90

Reported income tax expense –361 –2,648

A tax rate of 30.175 % (previous year: 30.175%) was used for the parent company.
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6.21 Joint venture
The following items are included in the consolidated financial statements for the propor-
tionately consolidated joint venture:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Non-current assets – –

Current assets 3,271 712

Non-current liabilities – –

Current liabilities 3,484 747

Income 209 17

Expenses –306 –214

6.22 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share are calculated as the ratio of the net profit attributable to the 
shareholders of the parent company to the average number of shares in circulation during 
the financial year, not including treasury shares held by the company.

2008/2009 2007/2008

Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent 
company (in TEUR)

 from continued operations –27,928 –3,611

 from discontinued operations –9,926 –1,824

 Total –37,853 –5,435

Average number of shares in circulation (in thousands) 8,099 7,973

Basic earnings per share (in EUR)

 from continued operations –3.45 –0.45

 from discontinued operations –1.23 –0.23

 Total –4.67 –0.68

In the 2008/2009 financial year, no dividend was paid for the previous financial year. In 
addition, no dividend will be proposed for financial year 2008/2009.

6.23 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement distinguishes between cash flows from operating activities, in-
vesting activities and financing activities. The cash flows for discontinued operations were 
as follows: cash flow from operating activities of TEUR 3,527 (previous year: TEUR –5,435), 
cash flow from investing activities of TEUR –960 (previous year: TEUR 2,356) and cash flow 
from financing activities of TEUR –162 (previous year: TEUR –259).
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The net cash used in operating activities as determined in accordance with the indirect 
method amounted to TEUR –12,154 (previous year: TEUR –3,469). This includes income 
taxes paid in the amount of TEUR 3,218 (previous year: TEUR 2,845), income taxes recov-
ered in the amount of TEUR 313 (previous year: TEUR 103), interest received in the amount 
of TEUR 595 (previous year: TEUR 2,008) and interest paid in the amount of TEUR 6,474 
(previous year: TEUR 5,871). Discontinued operations account for the following amounts: 
income taxes paid in the amount of TEUR 1,761 (previous year: TEUR 1,783), income taxes 
recovered in the amount of TEUR 249 (previous year: TEUR 96), interest received in the 
amount of TEUR 290 (previous year: TEUR 359) and interest paid in the amount of TEUR 
1,761 (previous year: TEUR 1,783). The cash flow from operating activities declined as 
against the previous year on account of the increase in working capital.

The liquidity reported under cash and cash equivalents consists of cash-in-hand and bank 
balances.

6.24 Other financial obligations and contingent liabilities
At the balance sheet date, the company had zero liabilities under pending real estate 
purchase agreements (previous year: TEUR 26,281). The company has only entered into 
obligations for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to 
an insignificant extent.

The company has entered into non-cancellable operating leases relating to business 
premises, office equipment and motor vehicles.

The future cumulative minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
are as follows:

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

TEUR TEUR

Up to 1 year 304 689

Between 1 and 5 years 450 1,177

More than 5 years 0 0

Via various subsidiaries, the Group is a fully liable partner in several investment compa-
nies. This resulted in a liability for their liabilities on the balance sheet date of TEUR 67,650 
(previous year: TEUR 70,746).

6.25 Company disposals  
The 50.1 % investment in ESTAVIS Property Management GmbH was disposed of as of the 
end of the second quarter. The purchase price was TEUR 387 and is payable in varying 
instalments by 2011. The sale relates to software and other operating and office equipment 
with a carrying amount of TEUR 533, receivables with a carrying amount of TEUR 777 and 
deferred tax assets of TEUR 491. These were offset by liabilities being lost of TEUR 740. 
Cash and cash equivalents of TEUR 5 were transferred as part of the sale. This resulted in 
a loss on disposal of TEUR 680.
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As of the end of the financial year, the Group’s shares in the HAG Group were disposed of 
effective from the start of the 2009/2010 financial year. The assets and liabilities held by 
the HAG Group are now reported separately as held for sale and are as follows:

TEUR

Goodwill 0

Investment property 9,525

Other non-current assets 39

Property held as inventories 18,150

Receivables and other assets 10,505

Cash and cash equivalents 8,810

Assets held for sale 47,029

Provisions 147

Financial liabilities 39,514

Other liabilities 3,776

Liabilities held for sale 43,437

The disposal price for the shares in the HAG Group was TEUR 3,400. This resulted in a 
write-down requirement on the assets held for sale of TEUR 11,915. The write-down related 
to the goodwill relating to the discontinued operations in the amount of TEUR 2,806 and 
other non-financial non-current assets in the amount of TEUR 319. The remaining write-
down requirement of TEUR 8,791 was distributed pro rata over the other assets with the 
exception of cash and cash equivalents. The share of goodwill relating to the discontinued 
operation was calculated on the basis of the relative value of the share of the Retail trading 
segment being lost to the remaining share of this segment.
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The sale of the HAG Group also means the disposal of a material share of the Retail trad-
ing segment and the complete discontinuation of the Investment property segment. The 
Property management segment was discontinued by way of the disposal of the interest in 
ESTAVIS Property Management GmbH. The result of discontinued operations breaks down 
as follows:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR TEUR

Revenues/other income (including revenues with continued 
operations) 13,305 28,784

Expenses 18,459 31,022

Operating result –5,154 –2,238

Net income from associates 8 –82

Net interest income –1,748 –1,908

Earnings before taxes of discontinued operations –6,893 –4,228

Tax expenses –732 –1,161

Earnings after taxes of discontinued operations –6,161 –3,067

Loss on disposal –680 –

Impairment loss on assets held for sale –11,915 –

Tax expenses –447 –

Loss on disposal/impairment loss after taxes –12,149 –

Result of discontinued operations –18,310 –3,067

Cash flow from operating activities 3,527 –5,435

Cash flow from investing activities –960 2,356

Cash flow from financing activities –162 –259

Total cash flow from discontinued operations 2,405 –3,338
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6.26 Additional information on financial instruments

a) Classes and measurement categories
The following tables show the reconciliation of the carrying amounts of financial instru-
ments to the IAS 39 measurement categories and the fair values of the financial instru-
ments with the source of measurement for each class:

Carrying 
amount

June 30,  
2009

of which 
within scope 

of IFRS 7

IAS 39 
measure-

ment 
category*

Fair value 
of financial 

instruments 
within scope 

of IFRS 7

of which 
calculated 

using 
stock 

market 
prices

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Other non-current financial 
assets
 Investments
 Securities
 Miscellaneous financial 
 assets

193
69

0

124

193
69

0

124

AfS
AfS

LaR

193
69

0

124

44
44

0

0

Trade receivables 1,955 1,955 LaR 1,955 0

Other receivables 49,424 31,682 LaR 31,682 0

Cash and cash equivalents 3,884 3,884 LaR 3,884 0

Total assets 55,456 37,715 37,715 44

Non-current financial 
liabilities
 Lease liabilities
 Other financial liabilities

68,506
16

68,490

68,506
16

68,490
n/a

AmC

68,506
16

68,490

0
0
0

Trade payables 6,214 6,214 AmC 6,214 0

Other liabilities 25,586 19,897 AmC 19,897 0

Total liabilities 100,306 94,616 94,616 0

* AfS: available-for-sale financial assets; LaR: loans and receivables; AmC: amortised cost (financial assets carried at cost); 
 n/a: not applicable



Consolidated Financial 
Statements

97

NOTES

Annual Report 2008/2009 · ESTAVIS AG

Carrying 
amount

June 30,  
2008

of which 
within scope 

of IFRS 7

IAS 39 
measure-

ment 
category*

Fair value 
of financial 

instruments 
within scope 

of IFRS 7

of which 
calculated 

using 
stock 

market 
prices

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Other non-current financial 
assets
 Investments
 Securities
 Miscellaneous financial 
 assets

252
187
30

35

252
187
30

35

AfS
AfS

LaR

252
187
30

35

150
125
25

0

Trade receivables 27,604 27,604 LaR 27,604 0

Other receivables 52,328 40,590 LaR 40,590 3

Cash and cash equivalents 25,733 25,733 LaR 25,733 0

Total assets 105,917 94,179 94,179 153

Non-current financial 
liabilities
 Lease liabilities
 Other financial liabilities

100,798
31

100,767

100,798
31

100,767
n/a

AmC

100,756
31

100,725

0
0
0

Trade payables 5,297 5,297 AmC 5,297 0

Other liabilities 22,774 21,016 AmC 21,016 0

Total liabilities 128,869 127,112 127,070 0

* AfS: available-for-sale financial assets; LaR: loans and receivables; AmC: amortised cost (financial assets carried at cost); 
 n/a: not applicable

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables predominantly have 
short remaining terms. Their carrying amounts as of the reporting date are therefore 
approximately their fair values. The same applies to financial liabilities, trade payables and 
other liabilities. If the other financial investments are listed on an active market their mar-
ket price is the fair value. The fair value of non-current papers not actively traded is also 
calculated by discounting future cash flows.

Discounting is based on a matched maturity market interest rate. The individual features 
of the financial instruments being measured are taken into account using standard credit 
and liquidity spreads. Investments in the amount of TEUR 25 (previous year: TEUR 62) for 
which there is not active market were not measured at fair value as the cash flows could 
not be reliably measured. Similarly, it was not possible to derive the fair value from compa-
rable transactions. These are measured at amortised cost. At present there are no specific 
intentions to sell these investments.
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Net earnings in line with IAS 39 measurement categories are therefore as follows:

Loans and Receivables 
(LaR)

July 1 to June 30

Available-for-Sale 
Financial Assets

(AfS)
July 1 to June 30

Financial Liabilities 
measured at

Amortised Cost (AmC)
July 1 to June 30

08/09 07/08 08/09 07/08 08/09 07/08

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Interest income 894 2,708 – – – –

Interest expenses – – – – 5,774 4,527

Income from currency 
translation – – – –

Expense of currency 
translation – – – –

Valuation allowance 2,249 132 80 191 – –

Gain on disposal – – – –

Loss on disposal – 0 – –

Net earnings –1,356 2,577 –80 –191 –5,774 –4,527

The interest income and interest expenses are shown in the corresponding positions of the 
consolidated income statement. All other expenses and income are included in the items 
other operating expenses and income respectively.

b) Financial risks
The Group’s business activities expose it to a variety of risks. In particular, these include 
liquidity, default and interest rate risks. Targeted financial risk management is intended to 
minimise the negative effects of these risks on the Group’s net asset, financial and earn-
ings situation and cash flows. For a description of the risk management system please see 
section 3 and the management report (section 3.1).
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Liquidity risk
The following tables show the undiscounted, contractually agreed interest and principal 
payments of the financial liabilities covered by IFRS 7:

June 30, 2009

Carrying amount Outflow in next 
reporting period

Outflow in next 
but one report-

ing period

Later outflow

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Finance lease liabilities 16 11 6 0

Other financial liabilities 68,490 69,874 37 671

Cash outflow for financial 
liabilities – 69,885 43 671

Trade payables 6,214 6,214 0 0

Other liabilities 19,897 19,897 0 0

Cash outflow for trade 
payables and other
liabilities – 26,111 – –

Cash outflow for 
liabilities within scope of 
IFRS 7 – 95,996 43 671

June 30, 2008

Carrying amount Outflow in next 
reporting period

Outflow in next 
but one report-

ing period

Later outflow

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Finance lease liabilities 31 17 11 6

Other financial liabilities 100,767 88,392 8,440 12,209

Cash outflow for financial 
liabilities – 88,409 8,451 12,215

Trade payables 5,297 5,297 0 0

Other liabilities 22,774 22,774 0 0

Cash outflow for trade 
payables and other
liabilities – 28,071 – –

Cash outflow for 
liabilities within scope of 
IFRS 7 – 116,480 8,451 12,215

The interest rates at the respective balance sheet date were used to determine interest 
payments for interest-bearing loans with variable interest rates in future reporting periods.

The ESTAVIS Group has cash and cash equivalents from continuing activities of TEUR 3,884 
(previous year: TEUR 25,733) to cover its liquidity risk. There were no open lines of credit 
for buying inventory property on the balance sheet date (previous year: TEUR 107,000; of 
which unutilised: TEUR 78,000). In addition, there are unutilised lines of credit to complete 
specific projects of TEUR 27,280 (previous year: TEUR 48,000).
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Risk of default 
The maximum default risk of the ESTAVIS Group is determined by the carrying amounts 
of its financial assets. It is higher as the Group is a fully liable partner in an associate and 
several investment companies. This resulted in a liability for their liabilities on the balance 
sheet date of TEUR 67,650 (previous year: TEUR 70,746).

The following risk concentrations have been identified: As of the balance sheet date, 33% 
of other receivables relate to one investment company (previous year: 29% and 17% to one 
other investment company). In the reporting period, other receivables from the investment 
company and trade receivables were written down in the amounts of TEUR 610 and TEUR 
1,310 respectively. On the balance sheet date of the comparative period, 55% of trade 
receivables also related to major customer (1). 

Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk is incurred by concluding floating rate credit facilities. These are 
predominantly short-term. To a limited extent, changes in interest rates can therefore lead 
to higher interest payments for the financial liabilities entered into. In the context of inter-
est rate risks, a sensitivity analysis is used to calculate the effects of changes in interest 
rates on net profit as of the balance sheet date. It is assumed that the respective portfolio 
of financial instruments subject to interest rate risks on the balance sheet date will be 
representative for the reporting period and the comparative period. If the market interest 
rate as of the balance sheet date (reporting date of the comparative period) had been 100 
basis points higher (lower), the net interest figure as of the balance sheet date would have 
been TEUR 329 (previous year: 304) worse (better). 

6.27 Related party transactions
Until 30 March 2007, ESTAVIS AG was controlled by its indirect majority shareholder, Mr. 
Rainer Schorr. Since this date, Mr. Schorr remains an indirect major shareholder of ES-
TAVIS AG, but is no longer the majority shareholder. At the balance sheet date, Mr. Rainer 
Schorr was the Chief Executive Officer of ESTAVIS AG with power of sole representation. 
Mr. Schorr and his wife hold minority interests in the following ESTAVIS Group companies:

Company Domicile Equity interest

ESTAVIS Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG (interim holding) Berlin 6 %

Dritte CRSR Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

SIAG Achte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

SIAG Zehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

SIAG Elfte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

SIAG Zwölfte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

SIAG Vierzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

SIAG Fünfzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 6 %

Estavis Immobilienverwaltungs GmbH (general partner) Berlin 6 %

Following the formation of ESTAVIS KG, which was incorporated into ESTAVIS AG by way 
of a non-cash contribution effective 30 June 2006, Mr. Rainer Schorr made a number of 
disbursements for expenses incurred by ESTAVIS KG and, in turn, ESTAVIS KG made a 
number of disbursements for expenses incurred by other companies controlled by Mr. 
Rainer Schorr. As of the reporting date, the residual balances of these transactions and 
the construction work performed by the ESTAVIS Group for companies of the Schorr Group 
in the financial year in the amount of TEUR 200 in the previous year and those performed 
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by the companies of the Schorr Group for the Group in the amount of TEUR 284 resulted 
in receivables of TEUR 489 (previous year: TEUR 700) and liabilities of TEUR 594 (previous 
year: TEUR 829). The liabilities also include the profits from the minority investments held 
by Mr. Schorr in the financial year 2006/2007. Interest is charged on these balances at a 
rate of 6 %.

Rainer Schorr Unternehmensberatung had entered into lease arrangements for office 
equipment and motor vehicles that are used by the ESTAVIS Group. As of the start of this 
financial year, these leases were transferred to ESTAVIS AG and are now relate directly to 
the lease companies.

Mr. Rainer Schorr has taken out a loan on behalf of ESTAVIS AG in 2006, under which 
ESTAVIS AG declared itself to be the debtor also in 2006. Within the internal relationship 
between ESTAVIS AG and Mr. Rainer Schorr, ESTAVIS AG has assumed the liability. Mr. Schorr 
has remained the economic guarantor towards the bank extending the loan. At the balance 
sheet date, the loan had a carrying amount of TEUR 18.

The company and Mr. Rainer Schorr have entered into an agreement under which Mr. Schorr 
has agreed to offset any losses incurred by the company in the event that interest is not 
charged on intra-group settlement accounts with the result that an excessive profit enti-
tlement is attributed to the minority interests held by Mr. Schorr. An interest rate of 6 % 
is applied in calculating potential losses. This resulted in a receivable on the part of the 
company of TEUR 0 (previous year: TEUR 7).

A company related to Mr. Schorr granted ESTAVIS AG a loan of TEUR 2,564 at an interest 
rate of 12.5 % in the financial year. This is repayable in several instalments by 31 Decem-
ber 2009 and amounts to TEUR 2,591 as of the balance sheet date. Its collateral is land 
charges and the assignment of purchase price receivables.

A company related to Mr. Schorr sold developed property to a property management com-
pany of the Group at a price of TEUR 100.

In the financial year, Eric Mozanowski, member of the Management Board of ESTAVIS AG, 
granted five short-term loans of between TEUR 40 and TEUR 500 to a Group company at 
interest rates of between 8.5 % and 10.5 %. With the exception of TEUR 300, these loans 
were repaid by the end of the financial year. The loans were collateralised by the assignment 
of receivables. Mr. Mozanowski also acquired developed property from a Group company 
at a price of TEUR 350. The agreement had not been executed as of the reporting date.

The ESTAVIS Group had a current liability of TEUR 258 as of the reporting date in respect 
of the associate SIAG Sechzehnte Wohnen GmbH & Co. KG. This amount resulted from the 
settlement transactions between the two companies.
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The members of the Management Board of ESTAVIS AG received the following compensa-
tion:

2008/2009 2007/2008

Fixed Variable Total Fixed Variable Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

Rainer Schorr (CEO) 427 – 427 454 – 454

Corina Büchold 307 – 307 190 – 190

Eric Mozanowski 219 – 219 – – –

Hans Wittmann 310 – 310 193 – 193

The members of the Supervisory Board received total compensation of TEUR 36 for the 
past fi nancial year (previous year: TEUR 39).

6.28 Events after the balance sheet date
The sale of the ESTAVIS Group’s participation in the HAG Group as discussed in section 
6.25 was partly realized.

7 OTHER DISCLOSURES

The auditor performed the following services for the ESTAVIS Group:

2008/2009 2007/2008

TEUR

Audits of fi nancial statements 754 538

Other audits or valuation services – –

Tax advisory services – –

Other services 13 49

Total 767 586

All values in the table above are gross fi gures as the Group is not entitled to the deduction 
of input tax.

The declaration on the Corporate Governance Code in accordance with section 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act was issued on 26 August 2009 and made permanently 
available to the shareholders on the homepage of ESTAVIS AG (www.estavis.de).

Berlin, 30 October 2009

Florian Lanz  Corina Büchold Eric Mozanowski Hans Wittmann
Chief Executive  Member of the Member of the Member of the
Offi cer (CEO)  Management Board Management Board Management Board
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AUDITORS’  CERTIFICATE

AUDITORS’  CERTIFICATE

We have audited the consolidated financial statements, comprising the balance sheet, the 
income statement, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the group management report, 
prepared by ESTAVIS AG, for the business year from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009. The 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and group management report in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as to be applied in 
the EU and the supplementary commercial law provisions under Section 315a (1) HGB, as 
well as the supplementary provisions in the articles of incorporation, is the responsibility 
of the company’s management board. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec-
tion 317 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch – German Commercial Code] and German generally ac-
cepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirt-
schaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that 
misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with [Ger-
man] principles of proper accounting and in the group management report are detected 
with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the Group and evaluations of possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-
related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the con-
solidated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily 
on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual 
financial statements of the companies included in consolidation, the determination of the 
companies to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles 
used and significant estimates made by the management board, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the conclusions of our audit, the consolidated financial statements 
comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as to be applied in the EU 
and the supplementary commercial law provisions under Section 315a (1) HGB, as well as 
the supplementary provisions in the articles of incorporation, and give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance 
with [German] principles of proper accounting. The group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the 
Group‘s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.
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In line with our obligations, we indicate that the continuation of the parent and group com-
panies on a going concern basis is impinged by risks described in the Risk Report of the 
Group Management Report. Key credit lines for Group financing expire in the near future. 
The continuation of the companies on an ongoing concern basis depends on the negotia-
tions on loan extensions and rescheduling being concluded successfully. In addition, to re-
tain solvency, it is necessary that the planned revenues from portfolio sales are generated.

Berlin, 12 November 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(Hartman)    (ppa. Schultz)
Auditor     Auditor
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
 
Supervisory Board

Dr. Karl-Josef Stöhr (Chairman)
 Member of the Supervisory Board since 2006
 Lawyer and partner, Sozietät Heuking Kühn Lüer Wojtek, Berlin

Michael Kremer (Deputy Chairman)
 Member of the Supervisory Board since 2006
 Business Consultant
 Other mandates:
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Operating Leasing AG, Frankfurt 
 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Hamburgische Immobilien 
 Invest SUCV AG, Hamburg (resigned as of 10 September 2009); 
 Member of the Supervisory Board of Aveco Holding AG, Frankfurt; 
 
John W. Cutts
 Member of the Supervisory Board since 2007 
 Managing Director, Pall Mall Capital Ltd., London

Denham Eke
 Member of the Supervisory Board since 2007 
 Managing Director, Jimsam Trust, Isle of Man 

Ulrich Wogart
 Member of the Supervisory Board since 2007 
 Banker, Member of the Management Board of Sparelog AG, Knesebeck
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Management Board

Dipl.-Ing. Rainer Schorr (Chairman until 30 June 2009)
 First elected: 30 June 2006
 Elected until: 30 June 2009
 Responsibility on the Board of Management of ESTAVIS AG:
 Strategy, Communication, Key accounting
 Other mandates: 
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Hamburgische Immobilien Invest SUCV AG, 
 Hamburg (resigned as of 10 September 2009)
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CWI Real Estate AG, Bayreuth
 (resigned as of 10 September 2009)

Florian Lanz (Chairman since 1 Juli 2009)
 First elected: 1 July 2009
 Elected until: 30 June 2012
 Responsibility on the Board of Management of ESTAVIS AG: 
 Strategy, Communication, Key accounting

Corina Büchold
 First elected: 30 June 2006
 Elected until: 31 December 2011
 Responsibility on the Board of Management of ESTAVIS AG:
 Personnel, Coordination, Property acquisition and Asset management

Eric Mozanowski
 First elected: 1 October 2008
 Elected until: 31 December 2010
 Responsibility on the Board of Management of ESTAVIS AG: 
 Retail business activities

Hans Wittmann
 First elected: 30 June 2006
 Elected until: 31 December 2010
 Responsibility on the Board of Management of ESTAVIS AG:
 Finance, Accounting, Controlling, Construction and Development
 Other mandates: 
 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CWI Real Estate AG, Bayreuth
 (resigned as of 10 September 2009)
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RESPONSIBILIT Y STATEMENT

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, 
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of the Corporation, and the management report of the 
Corporation includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business 
and the position of the Corporation, together with a description of the principal opportuni-
ties and risks associated with the expected development of the Corporation. 

Berlin, 30 October 2009 

ESTAVIS AG 
The Executive Board

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
This annual report contains specific forward-looking statements. A forward-looking state-
ment is any statement that does not relate to historical facts and events. This applies, in 
particular, to statements relating to future financial earning capacity, plans and expecta-
tions with respect to the business and management of ESTAVIS, growth, profitability and 
the general economic and regulatory conditions and other factors to which ESTAVIS is 
exposed.

Forward-looking statements are based on current estimates and assumptions made by 
the company to the best of its knowledge. Such forward-looking statements are based on 
assumptions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the 
actual results including the net asset, financial and earnings situation of ESTAVIS to differ 
materially from or disappoint expectations expressed or implied by these statements. The 
operating activities of ESTAVIS are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may 
also cause a forward-looking statement, estimate or prediction to become inaccurate.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2009/2010
 
2009

25 November Quarterly Report – 1st Quarter 2009/2010

2010

12 February Quarterly Report – 2nd Quarter 2009/2010

12 May Quarterly Report – 3rd Quarter 2009/2010

24 September Full Year Results 2009/2010

All dates are provisional. Please check our website www.estavis.de for confirmation.
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ESTAVIS AG
Uhlandstraße 165
10719 Berlin, Germany

Phone: +49 (0)30 887 181 - 0
Telefax: +49 (0)30 887 181 - 11

E-Mail: mail@estavis.de
Home: www.estavis.de

Management Board

Florian Lanz (Chairman)
Corina Büchold
Eric Mozanowski
Hans Wittmann

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Karl-Josef Stöhr, Berlin

Contact

ESTAVIS AG
Peter Vogt
Investor & Public Relations

Phone: +49 (0)30 887 181 - 799
Telefax: +49 (0)30 887 181 - 779

E-Mail: ir@estavis.de

Concept, editing

Goldmund Kommunikation, Berlin
www.goldmund.biz

Layout and design

Power-DesignThing GmbH
www.derthing.de

Images

Management Board: Marco Urban
All others: Power-DesignThing GmbH, Fotolia
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